
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
Friday, April 20, 2018, 8:00 a.m. 

Commission Chambers, Second Floor 
Governmental Center, 400 Boardman Avenue, Traverse City 

www.downtowntc.com 

Information and minutes are available from the DDA CEO, 303 East State Street, Suite C, Traverse City, 
MI 49684, (231) 922-2050. If you are planning to attend the meeting and are handicapped requiring 
special assistance; please notify the DDA CEO as soon as possible. 

1. Roll Call

2. Consent Calendar - The purpose of the consent calendar is to expedite business by
grouping non-controversial items together to be dealt with by one Board motion without
discussion. Any member of the board, staff, or public may ask that any item on the
consent calendar be removed therefrom and placed elsewhere on the agenda for full
discussion.  Such requests will be automatically respected.

A. Consideration of minutes for the Regular Meeting of March 16, 2018 (approval
recommended)

B. Consideration of approving Financial Reports and disbursements for DDA, TIF
97, and Old Town TIF for March 31, 2018 (approval recommended)

3. CEO Report

A. Strategic Plan Discussion and Consideration for Adoption

B. TDM Strategy:
1. Review of TDM Study and Three Year Implementation Plan
2. Consideration for Bayline Participation
3. Consideration of Downtowner Participation

C. Parking:
1. Consideration of amendment to parking leases at Lot P located at

124, 128 and 130 W. State
2. Consideration to concur with City Commission approval for the

2018 Restoration Project for the Larry C. Hardy and Old Town
Parking Garages

D. DDA Budget:
1. Fiscal Year 2018/2019 Budget
2. 6 Year Budget Projections

E. Consideration to apply for USDA Grant – New Tech Incubator in Downtown
F. Consideration of reimbursement to 200 Lake Street Development, LLC for

streetscape improvements at Radio Centre III

1



G. Consideration for renewing agreement with the Fair Food Network in order to
offer Double Up Food Bucks at the farmers market for the 2018 season

H. Consideration to authorize construction of the DDA Office
I. Medical Marijuana Input to City Planning
J. Lower Boardman River Leadership Team
K. Comments and Questions regarding Written Reports

5. Public Comment

6. Adjournment

The Traverse City Downtown Development Authority does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the admission or access 
to, or treatment or employment in, its programs or activities.  The DDA Executive Director has been designated to coordinate 
compliance with the non-discrimination requirements contained in Section 35.107 of the Department of Justice regulations.  
Information concerning the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the rights provided thereunder, are available 
from the DDA office.

2



Minutes 
Traverse City Downtown Development Authority 

Regular Meeting 
March 16, 2018 

Commission Chambers, Second Floor 
Governmental Center, 400 Boardman Avenue, Traverse City 

Bill Golden called the meeting to order at  8:02 a.m.  

1.   Roll Call 

Present: Leah Bagdon-McCallum, Harry Burkholder, Steve Constantin, Scott Hardy, Debbie 
Hershey, Jeff Joubran, Gabe Schneider 

Absent: Allison Beers, Mayor Jim Carruthers, Collette Champagne, Bill Golden, T. Michael 
Jackson,   

2. Consent Calendar. Motion by Hardy, seconded by Constantin that the consent portion of the 
agenda be approved. Motion carried unanimously. 

a. Approval of minutes of the Regular Meeting of February 16, 2018 

b. Approval of Financial Reports and disbursements for DDA, TIF 97, and Old Town 
dated February 28, 2018 and Financial Reports for Traverse City Parking Services for 
January 31, and February 28, 2018.  

3. CEO Report 
a. Review the Fiscal Year ’18-’19 Capital Improvement (CIP) for TIF 97, Old Town TIF, and 

Traverse City Parking Services.  
i. Revenue projections to be provided at the April 2018 meeting 

   
b. Update on Uptown Riverwalk Phase I 

c. Consideration to authorize matching funds for the CZM Program Coastal Water Trails Grant 
for the Boardman River Water Trail Signage and Interpretive Development Project 
i. Motion by Schneider, seconded by Joubran that the DDA Board of Directors 

authorize a match funds for the Coastal Zone Management Grant in the amount of 
$10,000 for the lower Boardman river water trail comprehensive signage and 
interpretation plan.  Motion carried unanimously.  

d. Consideration of authorizing a purchase/service order for Parking and Revenue Control 
Systems 
i. Motion by Constantin, seconded by Schneider that the DDA Board of Directors 

authorize a purchase/service order to Traffic and Safety Control Systems in the 
amount of $108,072 for the replacement of Parking Access and Revenue Control 

DRAFT

3



Equipment at the Hardy Garage and QR reading capabilities and the competitive 
bidding process be waived for a purchase/service order with Traffic and Safety 
Control Systems in the amount of $83,626 for the Old Town Garage with funds 
available in the Parking System Fund. Motion carried unanimously 

e. Consideration to approve an agreement with Munson Health Center to implement the Fruit 
and Vegetable Prescription Program at the Sara Hardy Downtown Farmers Market  
i. Motion by Burkholder, seconded by Hershey that the DDA Board of Directors 

approve an agreement with Munson Health Center to implement the Fruit and 
Vegetable Prescription Program at the Sara Hardy Downtown Farmers Market. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

f. Consideration of amending the rules for the Sara Hardy Downtown Farmers Market as 
recommended by the Farmers Market Advisory Board 
i. Motion by Hardy, seconded by Burkholder that the DDA Board of Directors amend 

the rules for the Sara Hardy Downtown Farmers Market as outlined in the 
Communications and Projects Coordinator, Nick Viox’s memorandum and 
recommended by the Farmers Market Advisory Board to change the Wednesday 
market time to 8 am to Noon. Motion carried unanimously.  

g. BATA Presentation on the Bayline 
a. Presentation by Kelly Dunham and Tyler Bevier 

h. Comments or Questions regarding Written Report          
i. Breakwater Project 

i. Exception for surface parking 
ii. Transportation Demand Management Study and Residential Parking  
iii. Burkholder commented on design guidelines 
iv. Strategic Plan 
v. Hardy commented on the Annual Report 

4. Public Comment 
a. None at this time 

5. Adjournment. The meeting officially adjourned at 9:14 a.m. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Colleen Paveglio 
Marketing & Deputy Director 

DRAFT

4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



[NAME OF DOCUMENT] | VOLUME 
 [Client Name] 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | i 

 

 

 
 

FINAL REPORT 
Transportation Demand Management Study 
City of Traverse City 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

December 2017 
 

 

 

 

33



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | i 

 

Table of Contents 
 Page 

Study Summary .................................................................................................................................... 2 
What is Transportation Demand Management? ................................................................................. 2 
Background Conditions ............................................................................................................................. 2 
Conditions Assesssment ............................................................................................................................. 5 

Key Issues & Opportunities ............................................................................................................. 16 
Recommended Strategies ............................................................................................................... 20 

Quick Wins ................................................................................................................................................ 20 
Short-Term Priorities ................................................................................................................................ 26 
Complementary Strategies .................................................................................................................... 31 
Longer-Term Recommendations ............................................................................................................ 33 

 

 

Table of Figures 
 Page 

Figure 1 Downtown Parking by Regulation ................................................................................. 6 
Figure 2 On-Street Parking Capacity ............................................................................................ 6 
Figure 3 Off-Street Parking Capacity ........................................................................................... 7 
Figure 4 Summer Season Utilization – Weekday Mid-Day ......................................................... 8 
Figure 5 Spring Season Utilization – Weekday Midday .............................................................. 9 
Figure 6 Fall Season Utilization – Weekday Mid-Day ................................................................. 9 
Figure 7 Weekday Mid-Day Utilization – Winter ........................................................................ 10 
Figure 8 TCPS Downtown Public Parking System ..................................................................... 11 
Figure 9 Summary of Projected Supply and Demand Changes ............................................... 12 
Figure 10 Bike Lane and Summer Bike Corral on Front Street .................................................. 13 
Figure 11 Public Bike Parking Spaces ......................................................................................... 15 
Figure 12 Summer Utilization Measures ..................................................................................... 16 
Figure 13 Recommended Hourly Rates ....................................................................................... 21 
Figure 14 Recommended Off-Street Permit Rates ..................................................................... 21 
Figure 15 Several Private Lots Suggest Promising Shared Parking Opportunities ................... 22 
Figure 16 Redundant Curb Cuts (grey bars) & Estimated Lost On-Street Capacities (grey 

circles)........................................................................................................................... 24 
Figure 17 Branding + Color Scheme Guide Drivers to Right-Fit Parking Options ..................... 33 
 
 

34



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 2 

STUDY SUMMARY 
WHAT IS TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT? 
Transportation Demand Management is a general term for strategies that increase the efficiency 
and effectiveness of transportation infrastructure and resources, by encouraging traveler-choice 
patterns that:  

� Redistribute demand away from constrained times, days, and seasons 

� Redistribute demand away from constrained locations and facilities 

� Reduce demand by increasing use of high-occupancy or high-efficiency transportation 
modes, such as: 

� Transit and ride-sharing modes that accommodate more travelers in fewer vehicles; 

� Ride services and car-sharing, which accommodate more travel relative to parking 
needs; 

� Bikes, scooters, and motorcycles, which take up less right-of-way and parking space; 
and 

� Walking which requires no parking and needs minimal right-of-way space. 

BACKGROUND CONDITIONS 
A review of Background Conditions was conducted to gain insights from previously-completed 
studies, data-collection, and analysis, and to identify primary issues, concerns, and opportunities 
with downtown stakeholders.  

Document Review 
This project benefitted from previously completed study, analysis, data assembly, and 
documentation from several efforts, key amongst which are those listed below.  

� Downtown & Corridor Market Analysis Update, AECOM, 2016 

� Traverse City Parking Services Quarterly Reports 

� Traverse City Downtown Permit Parking Services Policy (2016) 

� Traverse City Parking Services 2015-2018 Parking Plan 

� Neighborhood Parking Meetings: Minutes 

� Residential Parking Survey Summary Memo 

� Traverse City Parking Services/DDA: Residential Parking Program Recommendations 

� Bay Area Transportation Study: Transit Service & Coordination Study (Nov. 2011) 

� City of Traverse City Master Plan: Transportation Element (November 2011) 

� Traverse City Area Transportation and Land Use Study: Vision 2035 (September 2014) 

� Traverse City Parking Services Downtown Parking Maps 

35



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 3 

Stakeholder Engagement 
Concurrent with the review of the above documentation, the study team facilitated meetings, 
discussion groups, and surveys to gain the insights of those most directly engaged with the 
downtown parking system, and the mobility resources and options shaping the intensity and 
patterns of downtown parking demand. These are summarized below.  

Focus Groups 

A series of focus-group discussions was held over two days, to gain better understanding of how 
the current parking system, and its interface with available mobility/access options, is serving the 
needs, preferences, and future interests of downtown stakeholders. This included the following 
stakeholder groups.  

� Small Business Owners  

� Large Business Owners/Employers  

� Downtown/Mobility Advocates  

� Developers 

� Employees  

� Residents 

Key Input Received 

� Visitor parking availability is a problem mostly limited to summer months or special 
events. 

� Generally, the shuttles used to provide remote parking for large events, such as the 
National Cherry Festival and Traverse City Film Festival, were said to work very 
well. 

� Convenient and affordable employee parking is more of an issue.  

� Options discussed included a reduced parking permit fee, allocation of a specific 
number of spaces in the deck or on the top floors of the decks, and neighborhood 
parking permits 

� BATA seen as an unattractive alternative to driving right now, due to limited hours of 
operations and frequency, low parking costs, and car-dependent development outside 
downtown.  

� Traverse City is a fairly bikeable and walkable city (not as much in the winter, however).  

� Parking spillover into the neighborhoods, and management policies that limit parking in 
the inner ring of residential streets pushes the parking further out into the 
neighborhoods.  

� Policies surrounding parking – e.g. meters end in the early evening but the garages 
charge until midnight – are inconsistent with demand-based pricing best practices, and 
can be confusing for the customer. 

� While some believed the new parking structures were not needed or that visitors and 
employees would not use them, occupancy has been fairly high. 

� Strong support in the business community for a 3rd public parking structure  

� New development is displacing existing public parking lots and reducing system capacity. 

36



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 4 

� Some resistance to public-private partnerships for new structures, not confident the City 
can negotiate good deals   

� Successful examples from other cities might help address these concerns 

� City leadership wants to explore TDM and parking management options to avoid the 
construction and maintenance costs associated with constructing parking. 

� General support for some type of reliable and convenient shuttle/circulator service. 

� Parking shuttle from remote lots for employees, particularly in peak summer months 

� Downtown circulator, primarily to serve a Park Once approach for visitor parking, 
while also connecting employees to cheaper, peripheral parking options. 

� Meters – 3 hours is preferred over the former 2 hour but employees do move vehicles to 
avoid tickets.   

� Some confusion in the municipal parking lots over which are permit only vs. available for 
the public. 

� Look for Park Once options with improved pedestrian and bike facilities and wayfinding  

� Look at road diet opportunities, potential cycle track, more bike parking etc. 

Employee Survey 

An online survey was developed and distributed to employees of downtown Traverse City 
businesses. Questions were designed to generate responses to help define and describe the 
parking/commuting needs, preferences, and experiences of this critical downtown stakeholder 
population. The survey was open for six weeks in April and May 2017, during which time 434 
people completed the survey. Of the 434 participants: 

� 219 identified as salaried employees;  

� 206 identified as hourly employees; and 

� Nine identified as volunteers.  

Asked to identify their usual mode of travel to their primary downtown job, most identified 
driving alone, including: 

� 93% of hourly employees; 

� 88% of salaried employees; and  

� 78% of volunteers. 

Other Key Findings 

� Transit was cited by very few as their primary commute mode 

� Those most interested in using alternative commute modes are most interested in cycling. 

� Weather, convenience, and travel times all appear to be significant barriers to alternative-
mode use, as cited by those indicating an interest in using these modes more often  

� By far, the most common commuter benefit offered to downtown employees is free 
parking, with parking-cost subsidies the next-most common. 

� Most employees park more no more than a block away from their worksite (66% of 
salaried employees, 54% of hourly employees.  

� Volunteers are generally walking farther from their parking space to their worksite 
than other employees.  

37



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 5 

� Less than half of driving commuters indicated that they would prefer a primary parking 
location different from the one they currently use.  

� Among survey participants that indicated a preference to change their primary 
parking location, the most commonly-cited barrier to their preferred option was cost. 

CONDITIONS ASSESSSMENT 
Building upon the understanding of background conditions, the study team reviewed direct 
conditions of parking supply and demand, as well as the availability and role of non-driving 
mobility options.  

Public Parking Supply  
TCPS manages the downtown supply of on-street parking that is complemented by a significant 
system of off-street public parking lots, as well as two, large public parking decks.  

Parking Facilities Spaces 

On-Street 1,287 

Public Parking Lots 1153 

Public Parking Decks 1,062* 

Combined 3,502 

* This includes 65 spaces, within the Hardy deck, that are reserved for a private entity.  

TCPS regulates these spaces to ensure they remain accessible for intended users, primarily 
through the following tools. 

� Pricing 

� Time Limits 

� Permit-parking only  (primarily commuter and ADA parking) 

The maps below identify the location, regulations, and capacities of these parking facilities. 

38



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 6 

Figure 1 Downtown Parking by Regulation 

 

Figure 2 On-Street Parking Capacity 

 

39



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 7 

Figure 3 Off-Street Parking Capacity 

 

Parking Utilization  
There is a seasonal nature to activity and travel demand in Traverse City, making it essential to 
assess parking utilization throughout the year. 

Peak Season (Summer) 

Summer is peak season in Traverse City, when steady, year-round resident and employee 
populations are joined by thousands of vacationing families and tourists, drawn to the city’s 
extensive shores, lakes, and rivers, and the many other outdoor and recreational offerings of 
Michigan’s Up North regions. Parking occupancy data, from counts conducted during July 2016 
and July 2017, was aggregated to provide a measure of “typical” conditions during this peak-
summer month. Average utilization measures were calculated from this data, to provide a 
measure of parking availability. The map below provides an overview of these measures, and as 
such a sense of parking opportunities presented to drivers arriving in downtown during a summer 
midday.  

40



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 8 

Figure 4 Summer Season Utilization – Weekday Mid-Day  

 

Shoulder Seasons (Spring & Fall) 

Downtown activity has been increasing during Traverse City’s “shoulder” seasons, like the fall, 
putting more pressure on the TCPS parking system compared to past norms. The maps below 
present utilization conditions, based on occupancy-data measures from midday periods in the 
spring and the fall.  

41



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 9 

Figure 5 Spring Season Utilization – Weekday Midday 

 

Figure 6 Fall Season Utilization – Weekday Mid-Day 

 

42



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 10 

Off Peak Season (Winter) 

Winter is the “off season” for downtown Traverse City and therefore typically the period during 
which parking demand tends to be at its lowest levels of the year. The map below provides an 
overview of utilization conditions during occupancy-count surveys, conducted during weekdays at 
midday.  

Figure 7 Weekday Mid-Day Utilization – Winter 

 

Parking Costs and Revenues 
Fiscal-year financial data from 2015 and 2016 provide a detailed summary of the costs associated 
with maintaining the downtown parking system, and the revenues it generates. The table below 
provides an overview of key costs and revenues from this data.   

  

43



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 11 

Figure 8 TCPS Downtown Public Parking System 

Parking 
Facilities 

Costs Revenues Income  

2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 

On-Street $392,865 $523,487 $599,152 $852,230 $206,287 $328,743 

Surface Lots $729,272 $870,642 $862,195 $1,055,490 $132,923 $184,848 

Decks $782,147 $748,326 $949,312 $1,012,285 $167,165 $263,959 

Combined $1,904,284  $2,142,455  $2,410,659  $2,920,005  $506,375  $777,550 

It is worth noting that while, overall, each of the parking-system components presented above is 
profitable, the 10 surface lots that the City leases from private owners consistently cost more to 
lease than they take in. Each of these lots lost revenue in both 2015 and 2016, with loses totaling 
about $55,000 in 2015 and just under $50,000 in 2016.  

Projected Parking Supply/Demand Changes 
Expected Land-Use Development 

For the last several years, downtown Traverse City has been attracting a remarkable level of 
development activity and interest. This provides significant upsides for walkable-urban 
development and downtown growth, both of which support the central TDM objective of more 
growth with less roadway and parking infrastructure. This growth, however, will increase 
aggregate parking demand in the downtown, and many projects are likely to occur on sites that 
currently provide parking, thus potentially reducing future supplies.  

Proposed West Front Street Garage 

Planning is in progress for a new parking deck, to be built on the site of a 102-space DDA lot on 
West Front Street. The expected capacity for this facility is roughly 400 spaces, providing a net 
gain of 298 spaces for the DDA system. The City is in the process of hiring an architect to get the 
planning and design process started. 

Projected Net Changes 

To address the challenges and opportunities presented by these changing demand and supply 
conditions, development and parking data were analyzed to project net changes to parking 
demand and supply over the next 5-10 years. The table below presents a summary of the resulting 
projections, including: 

� Expected changes in the next five years, from current and underway projects 

� Expected changes in the following five years, from planned and proposed projects 

� Projections of increased parking demand increase, assuming most parking is provided as 
an on-site amenity (Uban, Mixed-Use Rates) 

� Projections of increased parking demand increase, assuming most parking demand is 
accommodated via TCPS resources (Shared Parking District Rates) 

� Projected, net changes to both public and private parking supplies.   

  

44



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 12 

Figure 9 Summary of Projected Supply and Demand Changes 

Downtown 
Development 

Projects 

Projected Increase in Peak Parking 
Demand Net Parking Supply Change 

Urban Mixed-Use 
Rates 

Shared Parking 
District Rates 

Public 
Parking 
Impact 

Private 
Parking 
Impact 

Current & Underway 95 70 0 96 

Planned & Proposed 589 437 -156 446 

West Front St Garage - 298 0 

Total 708 504 142 542 

Key Findings 

� Peak-hour parking demand is likely to increase by between 500 and 700 spaces in the 
next few years, assuming mode shares remain as they are today.  

� Roughly 550 spaces are proposed to be included with the development expected to 
generate this increased demand.  

� With the loss of over 150 public spaces, resulting from private development on current lot 
sites, this could create a future supply deficit of ~300 spaces.  

� This deficit could be offset by the proposed West Front Street garage, as currently 
planned. 

Beyond addressing the potential supply deficit, the West Street garage importantly expands the 
DDA public parking system. Such expansion will offer much greater efficiency and effectiveness in 
addressing overall parking demand in the downtown, compared to expansions of private parking 
supplies.  This presents a critical opportunity to reduce the overall supply needs of a growing 
downtown Traverse City, particularly as mobility options begin to alter long-established 
relationships between growth, mobility, and personal-auto use.1  

Emphasizing public supply expansions over on-site parking at new development should be a 
core growth, and TDM, strategy, starting with those projects identified here as Planned & 
Proposed, and for all future growth.  

                                                             
1 http://www.latimes.com/business/la-fi-car-future-real-estate-20170405-story.html 

45



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 13 

Non-Driving Mobility Conditions 
Figure 10 Bike Lane and Summer Bike Corral on Front Street 

 

BATA Services 

Core Services 

BATA provides more than half a million annual rides to residents and visitors in Leelanau and 
Grand Traverse Counties. BATA’s core services consists of the following four service types. 

� City Loop - a network of five fixed-routes, four of which are radial routes that travel east, 
west, and south out of the downtown Hall Street Transfer Station. 

� Village Loop - a deviated fixed-route2 and flag stop service3, consisting of five routes, that 
connects villages and towns in Leelanau and Grand Traverse Counties to downtown 
Traverse City. 

� City Link – Door-to-door, demand-response operating within Traverse City and the 
immediately surrounding area.  

� Village Link – Door-to-Loop demand-response service connecting rural areas and the 
Village Loop. 

                                                             
2 The Village Loop allows for drivers to deviate up to ¾ of a mile off the route 
3 “Flag stop” service refers to the practice of allowing riders to wave down the bus to be picked up, and to request to 
be dropped off, at any safe location along the route instead of at an official stop location. 

46



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 14 

Recently, BATA began operating the “Village Link 15” service, which is a demand-response service 
similar to Village Link but with designated time-points at three stops: 

� Hall Street 

� Munson 

� Lake Ann 

Seasonal Services 

Additional service and a Ski-n-Ride program are provided from January to March, connecting 
popular ski and snowboarding areas, including Crystal Mountain, The Homestead, Mt. 
Holiday/Timber Ridge, and Hickory Hills. Some of the venues offer incentives, such as 
discounted lift tickets and food and beverage vouchers, when BATA riders present their pass or 
receipt. The East Traverse Flex Route, which operates throughout the school year, offers one trip 
per day in each direction between downtown Traverse City, the Cass Road Transfer Station, and 
various schools and ski resorts east of downtown.  

The Bike-n-Ride program connects cyclists to the Leelanau Trail between Traverse City and 
Suttons Bay and the Sleeping Bear Heritage Trail between Glen Arbor and Empire. The per-
person one-way fare is $3.00. In addition, all BATA Loop route buses are equipped with bike 
racks that can accommodate up to three bikes.  

BATA also offers shuttles for many of the summer festivals and activities organized each year in 
the Traverse City Area. Services include the Interlochen Summer Concert Bus throughout the 
summer, Cherry Festival Shuttle in July, Traverse City Film Festival Shuttle in July, and Cedar 
Polka Fest Shuttle in June.  

Pending Improvements 

In May 2017, Grand Traverse and Leelanau County voters passed a millage increase that will 
allow BATA to maintain its current operations and grow its level of service. The additional 
revenue is expected to go toward many of the recommendations listed in the recent Community 
Needs Assessment, including: 

� Creating a downtown loop route with 15-minute frequency, 

� Park-n-ride enhancements, 

� Technology upgrades (online scheduling, real-time bus tracking, mobile fare payment), 

� Rural service improvements (more direct door-to-door connections) 

� Fleet and facility changes (replace aging vehicles, improve bus stop access and safety) 

As of August 2017, planning was underway for the downtown loop service, including discussions 
with potential funding partners, and an expectation to launch the new service in early 2018. 

Ride Services 

Taxi service is available in Traverse City, with a few small taxi companies operating in the area. 
Service is primarily provided for trips to and from the airport. 

Uber and Lyft began operating within Traverse City during this study. Before that, a comparable 
service known as TransportHer began operating throughout the city, in May 2017. This service is 

47



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 15 

designed specifically to provide safe rides to female passengers with only female drivers, but soon 
expanded to serve seniors and children as well.4 

Bicycle 

The City has been investing in bike infrastructure for several years. Bike parking opportunities are 
available throughout the downtown, including dedicated bike lanes have long been serving 
cyclists along State and Front Streets. Many downtown streets benefit from lower speeds and 
modest traffic volumes, making them viable locations for shared lanes.   

This vital infrastructure is evident across the downtown and surrounding areas, and is well 
utilized. Observed conditions indicate that, not only is there ample bike parking, but that it is well 
distributed to accommodate demand. With a few exceptions, installed bike racks appear to be well 
utilized but not overwhelmed with demand.  

Figure 11 Public Bike Parking Spaces 

 

                                                             
4 http://www.traverseticker.com/story/ride-sharing-business-launches-in-traverse-city 

48

http://www.traverseticker.com/story/ride-sharing-business-launches-in-traverse-city


TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 16 

Figure 12 Summer Utilization Measures 

 

 

Shared-Use Path Systems: TART Trails 

Traverse Area Recreation and Transportation (TART) Trails is a non-profit organization that 
builds and maintains shared-use trails in the greater Traverse City area. As of 2017, TART has 
built, or maintains, over 100 miles of trails in the region. The primary trail in the network is the 
TART Trail, which runs 10.5 miles from Acme Township, through downtown Traverse City, and 
up to Grielickville.  

KEY ISSUES & OPPORTUNITIES 
Parking Supply & Demand 

� During summer months, parking demand consistently overwhelms the downtown 
parking system, constraining availability across most of the system, and creating acute 
demand pressures on downtown-core blocks and facilities.  

� Outside of these months, conditions of constrained availability tend to be limited to 
subsets of high-demand parking locations (on-street parking, particularly along Front 
Street and adjacent blocks) and facilities (commuter parking in the decks and centrally-
located lots).   

49



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 17 

� On-street parking is the most-consistently constrained parking inventory, with high-
demand blocks experiencing availability constraints throughout the year, and well-
beyond the midday peak.  

� Conditions, expectations, and preferences vary significantly among residents and 
neighborhoods regarding curbside parking and regulations.  

� This indicates that an opt-in process for adding new blocks to the program, and 
offering a suite of curbside-management options to choose from, will be key to 
successful resident-permit parking implementation. 

� While some off-street facilities experience constrained availability beyond the summer, 
there is sufficient capacity for TCPS to offer commuter permits to anyone who wants one, 
without having to maintain a wait list for any individual facility. 

� Seasonally limited constraints create an opportunity to focus TDM investments, 
programming, and resources on seasonal mode shifts that can reduce commuter-parking 
demand in order to increase capacities made available for visitors, while also ensuring 
that visitors can get to and around downtown without a car (and are aware of this).  

� Importantly, this focus would also align TDM efforts with the months during which 
drivers tend to be most inclined to adopt modes of travel that increase one’s exposure 
to the elements, which includes transit.  

� Year-round parking-management and TDM efforts are nonetheless critical to maintaining 
consistent parking availability, by: 

� Redistributing demand, provide a better and more-consistent parking experience 
across downtown. 

� Reducing parking demand by creating an environment in which most visitors who 
drive downtown will use just one parking space while downtown (Park Once).  

� Reducing parking demand by improving non-driving mobility to/from and within 
downtown. 

} This should include visitor-focused TDM strategies that can increase ride-
service, transit, and cycling use among visitors in all seasons.  

Projected Supply & Demand Changes 
� Demand projections support the DDA’s plan to develop a small parking garage on the 

west side of downtown to replace surface lots in that area that will be displaced by 
development. 

� This presents an opportunity to focus supply-development investments on big-picture 
opportunities, rather than acute and pressing needs. 

� This should provide leverage to the City, allowing it to seek strategically-important 
opportunities to: 

� Redevelop existing surface lots, either as mixed-use buildings with public parking or 
as parking-structures with street-level commercial uses, in line with the 
redevelopment vision for the downtown core. 

� Facilitate joint-development partnerships to bring targeted land-uses to the 
downtown. 

� Discourage on-site, private parking at new downtown development projects, by 
offering reliable access to shared, TCPS-managed parking structures.  

50



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 18 

Non-Driving Mobility 
Multimodal 

� Well designed and convenient pedestrian systems, bike amenities, car sharing/ pooling 
and shuttles will help alleviate the parking stresses on the downtown at the same time as 
supporting local resident mode shift. 

Transit 

� BATA offers a wide variety of services to meet the needs of a large service area that has 
population and employment densities ranging from very-low rural densities to higher 
urban densities. 

� Feedback from stakeholders and the public indicates that BATA is usually not viewed as a 
viable option for completing trips, particularly for employee commutes. Determining the 
reason for this will require further study, but observations on BATA’s fixed-routes from 
this existing conditions review include: 

� Travel time may feel too long compared to other modes, 

� City Loop may not be convenient enough for commuters at every 30-minutes – a 
missed bus potentially means a missed appointment, meeting, etc., 

� City Loop routes focus on providing geographic coverage to both the city and the low-
density areas surrounding the city rather than emphasizing corridors and frequency, 

� Village Loop and City Loop services operate as two different services for the most 
part, but opportunities may exist for the services to work more in conjunction, 

� Downtown circulation is not a primary focus for BATA.  

� Transit competes for riders in small cities like Traverse City not only with personal 
vehicles, but also with walker and bikers. Walking, biking, and parking your car are all 
relatively easy (as well as free or inexpensive) in Traverse City, so the pressure to take 
transit is likely low. 

� BATA’s seasonal and special services are a great opportunity to increase the visibility and 
image of transit in Traverse City, and many of these are very popular with the public 
according to feedback the study team received.  

� Emerging mobility options and technologies offer new opportunities for transit that can 
provide a more attractive and efficient service.  

Ride Services 

� Ride-service companies, including the innovative startup TransportHer, creates novel 
partnership opportunities to reduce drive-alone dependence among downtown 
employees, residents, and visitors. 

� Create a partnership to promote these services to visitors arriving via the airport, and 
staying downtown, in lieu of renting a car. 

� Provide a Guaranteed Ride Home benefit to transit, bike, and ride-share commuters. 

� Encourage developers to provide tenants with ride allowances to reduce parking 
demand and expand equitable mobility options.  

51



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 19 

Pedestrian 

� Traverse City has made great strides in their pedestrian network with widening sidewalks 
in the core downtown, providing high visibility crosswalks, bumpouts, a shared street on 
Garland, and pedestrian signs and signals.  

� This strong pedestrian network supports a “park once” use of the downtown parking 
infrastructure.  

� Implementation of the 8th Street plan and West Boardman recommendations would 
further advance this goal.  

Bicycle 

� Bike infrastructure has long benefitted from City investments and planning priority.  

� Bike parking opportunities are available throughout the downtown. 

� Bike lanes were recently striped on State and Front Streets.  

� This momentum should continue.  

� Though many downtown streets are lower speeds and volumes making them 
appropriate locations for shared lanes, the demographic of the peak season user is 
more novice riders and families who tend to not feel comfortable without a dedicated 
lane.  

� Dedicated lanes make the transition to using a bicycle as a primary mode of 
transportation a more feasible option.  

� Though right-of-way width constraints exist, there are areas where lane use can be re-
evaluated.  

� Consider necessary lane widths, utilization of dedicated left and right turn bays and 
their utilization rates, Intersection treatments, tree lawns and sidewalk widths. 

� A comprehensive bike share or bike rental program could also help alleviate parking 
pressures in the downtown.  

� The DDA could look to coordinate, sponsor, and promote a venture.  

� Since many tourists are families, it would be necessary to supply appropriate 
equipment to handle children and well as adults.  

TDM 
� TDM can provide the most significant benefit to downtown parking, mobility, and access 

conditions during summer months. 

� This aligns perfectly with seasons in which non-driving options like cycling and 
transit tend to be most attractive to those who have the option to drive.  

� This creates an important opportunity to focus TDM energies, investments, and 
activities on promoting these driving alternatives, precisely when they are most likely 
to appeal to commuters, many of whom may remain committed drive-alone 
commuters from October to April.  

� This could include the following May – September programs and commuter benefits. 

} funding a bus-pass program for downtown employees 

} providing downtown employees with free bike-share to make peripheral and 
remote parking options more viable 

52



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 20 

} Higher permit-parking rates to encourage seasonal use of ride-sharing, park-
and-ride, transit, and cycling options.  

RECOMMENDED STRATEGIES 
Following is an overview of recommended TDM strategies. The study’s Recommended Strategies 
report provides additional detail on most of the strategies below, while detailed overviews are 
provided for underlined strategies in the appendix to this report.  

QUICK WINS 
Following is a list of recommended immediate-implementation priorities – Strategies that 
promise meaningful improve opportunities, and can be implemented directly by the DDA/TCPS, 
and should encounter minimal implementation barriers. 

Define a Performance-Based Pricing approach. 

Link parking rates to demand, measured as utilization/availability conditions during peak-
demand periods, to underscore the TCPS’s standing policy that pricing is the most effective, and 
intuitive management tool for maintaining demand/supply equilibrium across the downtown and 
across times of varying levels of demand.  

� Review rates annually to determine if adjustments are warranted, raising or lowering 
rates to address any meaningful gaps between targeted and actual Availability measures. 

� Provide transparency by releasing data analysis, findings, and any subsequent 
management/pricing adjustments in an annual Performance-Based Management report.5  

Adjust parking rates to reflect locational demand patterns across downtown. 

Define a premium zone for on-street parking rates to create more consistent availability on these 
high-demand blocks.  

� Front and State streets between Pine and Boardman streets 

� Pine Street, Union Street, Cass Street, Park Street, and Boardman Avenue, between Front 
and State streets 

Define a premium zone for hourly, off-street parking rates to create more consistent availability in 
these high-demand areas.    

� From State Street, north to the Boardman River 

� Between Wadsworth Street and Boardman Avenue 

Vary parking rates by season. 

To maintain more-consistent availability during high-demand seasons, while not reducing 
demand during off-season months, establish a calendar of rate adjustments that closely track 
seasonal demand patterns. The following table presents an illustrative set of rates and a schedule 
for adjustments to help illustrate the recommended framework for seasonal hourly-parking rates. 

                                                             
5 Case Study example: http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/parking/docs/2016AnnualReport.pdf 

53



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 21 

Collecting occupancy/availability data will be essential to make any necessary adjustments to 
these rates and the schedule of adjustments over time.  

Figure 13 Recommended Hourly Rates 

 
Summer Spring/Fall Winter 

Premium Base Premium Base Premium Base 

On-Street $2.50 $2.00 $2.00 $1.50 $1.50 $1.00 

Off-Street  $2.00 $1.50 $1.50 $1.00 $1.00 $0.50 

Seasonal supply/demand variations present a key TDM opportunity for Traverse City. Shifting 
commutes away from drive-alone modes will be both easiest and most necessary for easing supply 
constraints during summer months. Conversely, the months in which it is typically most 
challenging to encourage transit, ride-share, and cycling commutes are the months in which such 
shifts are least necessary for maintaining an optimal supply/demand balance downtown. This 
facilitates a demand-based pricing approach that optimizes mode-shift opportunities by aligning 
rates with supply/demand conditions, as they fluctuate across the year – keeping rates effective in 
high-demand months, while easing rates during months when non-driving options are least 
viable and appealing.  

The following table presents an illustrative set of rates and a schedule for adjustments to help 
illustrate the recommended framework for seasonal off-street permit-parking rates. Collecting 
occupancy/availability data will be essential to make any necessary adjustments to these rates and 
the schedule of adjustments over time.  

Figure 14 Recommended Off-Street Permit Rates 

 June - Aug May & Sept Oct, Nov, Mar, 
April Jan. & Feb. 

Decks $100 $75 $50 $25 

Premium Lots $75 $50 $35 $20 

Other Lots  $50 $35 $25 $15 

Extend meter hours into evenings in peak and shoulder seasons. 

Meter schedules should be adjusted to reflect evolving downtown parking patterns, which 
increasingly tend to intensify around the midday/lunch period and evening/dinner period, rather 
than following the typical workday schedule of most parking-meter regulations. Further, the 
seasonality of parking demand patterns in Traverse City merits seasonal meter-schedule 
variations.  The following pricing schedules are recommended, as a starting point, to reflect 
seasonal fluctuations in time-of-day and day-of-week demand patterns.  

� Summer: 8 AM – 10 PM, Monday – Saturday  

� Spring and Fall: 10AM – 8 PM, Monday - Saturday 

� Winter – 10AM: 6PM, Monday - Saturday 

Expand employee-parking options. 

Create on-street permits for long-term parking on blocks along strategically selected streets. 

54



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 22 

� The block of Wadsworth Street, between Fifth Street and West Front Street is a good 
example of a non-neighborhood street that could accommodate this. 

� Pilots on such streets, along with an established Resident Parking Permit program 
could provide “proof of concept” experience to explore designating employee-parking 
permit regulations on some neighborhood streets. 

Offer ride-share participants the best parking. 

Reserve a modest number of high-convenience spaces, including the best spaces within high-
demand parking facilities, for registered ride-share vehicles. 

� This can be limited to mornings until 10AM, making any spaces not occupied by then 
available for general parking. 

� Require carpools to register with the DDA, to receive a hangtag or decal that will allow 
them to park in carpool-reserved spaces.  

Provide Commuter Counseling services. 

TCPS staff should work with area-employers, and their HR staff, to ensure that they understand 
the downtown parking system, and the range of commute modes and commuter benefits available 
to their employees.  

� Complement this work with a standing offer to schedule one-on-one Commuter 
Counseling sessions with employees and new hire.  

� This can help promote TCPS’s TDM efforts and programs, and reduce the parking stress 
and worry that can affect downtown employee recruitment and retention.   

Broker shared-parking arrangements. 

Figure 15 Several Private Lots Suggest Promising Shared Parking Opportunities 

 

55



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 23 

Several lots with workday demand schedules provide opportunities to explore options for 
arranging evening/late-night use by downtown employees, using permits to control access to 
these private facilities and potentially fund participant benefits like snow clearance, lighting and 
maintenance, liability-insurance offsets, etc. Traditional shared-parking arrangements between 
lot/property owners can also be brokered by the City/DDA to reduce implementation barriers.  

� Engage private-lot owners to develop an evening-employee strategy that could include 
designated permits to help control use of shared facilities.  

� These would be for permits that the DDA would issue to downtown businesses, with 
the over-costs revenue provided to the lot owners.  

� Ensure that property owners know and recognize that the DDA is willing to provide 
intermediary services to develop sharing arrangements and agreements.   

Broker shared-parking, offering pay-by-phone pricing as incentive. 

This technology has proved critical to allowing owners of private parking facilities to monetize 
parking that they make available during off-hours. 

� Use TCPS’s pay-by-phone system to avoid common barriers to shared parking 
arrangements, unlocking significant potential capacities within the downtown core.  

� Offer lot owners access to the payment system, providing a means for them to monetize 
their excess, off-hour parking capacities.  

� This would be a compelling incentive to expand off-hour sharing among the many, 
substantial private lots in and around downtown.  

� Pay-by-phone vendors will typically work with lot owners to define rates and hours of 
access, and provide signage. 

� This signage, consistent with what is used at TCPS meters and off-street facilities, 
provides reassurance to drivers that these spaces are legitimately available to the 
public.  

Create short-term parking in off-hour loading zones.  

On prime commercial streets, set loading-zone regulations to hours that balance the 
morning/afternoon peak in loading activity, with evening/weekend peaks in short-term parking 
demand. 

� Adjust the schedule of loading-zone restrictions, as negotiated with nearby commercial 
uses who rely upon these spaces for delivery of goods and services, to expand curbside-
parking capacities during evening and weekend periods, when demand for such high-
convenience parking is at its peak, and when loading zones attract little to no activity  

Create early morning loading zones to encourage more activity at these times. 

Generous early-morning loading zones on secondary streets, or on alternate sides on prime 
streets, can encourage more truck deliveries during these times of modest short-term parking 
demand.  

� Set aside entire blocks for commercial loading/unloading between 6AM and 10AM, when 
short-term parking demand is modest. 

� Pilot this on side streets, perhaps alternating sides of the street to moderate the impact on 
parking supplies, and expand to primary streets if results are positive.  

56



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 24 

� Concentrate enforcement efforts during the pilot to further incentivize use of these 
loading zones, and reduce the current rate of loading from within travel lanes.  

Create motorcycle/scooter parking zones. 

During peak seasons and events, offering dedicated, convenient parking can encourage increased 
use of these space-efficient vehicles. 

� This could be a seasonal strategy, focusing on months of peak visitor parking demand 

� This can be a particularly beneficial use of “leftover” curbside areas too small to 
accommodate standard parking spaces. 

Reclaim spaces from redundant curb cuts. 

Figure 16 Redundant Curb Cuts (grey bars) & Estimated Lost On-Street Capacities (grey circles) 

 
The alley/s running between Front and State streets, create an opportunity to recapture a 
significant number of curb cuts that both disrupt sidewalks on these streets, and reduce their 
critically valuable parking capacities.  

� Work with property/lot owners to close as many of these redundant curb cuts as possible.  

� Identify the potential value of recapturing the lost curbside capacity along these high-
value blocks may create sufficient pressure to gain the cooperation of property/lot 
owners. 

� Alternatively, the City should consider establishing a curb-cut tax to incentivize lot 
owners to rely solely on alley access to these facilities.  

� Another option might be to share any meter revenue resulting from the recapture of 
curbside parking capacities.  

Implement an updated set of Residential Parking Permit recommendations. 

Build upon the 2016 Planning Commission study recommendations to include the following 
recommended program elements. 

57



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 25 

Establish RPP-eligible zones. 

Identify as RPP-eligible, all residential blocks on which time limits have been established 
primarily to mitigate against impacts from non-residential parking demand. 

� Define zones, based on these blocks and natural/established neighborhood boundaries. 

Set an appropriate threshold for majority support for applying RPP regulations. 

Allow residents within eligible zones to petition to establish RPP regulations for their zone. 

� Petitions showing that at least 51% of eligible households support RPP regulations is a 
standard practice for urban RPP programs, with many cities using higher thresholds. 

� City of Traverse City has indicated that 51% is their preferred threshold, which is in line 
with standard practice for urban RPP programs. 

� Some cities choose a higher threshold – 60% in Austin, TX and 80% in Chicago, IL –
emphasizing that strong support is necessary to justify restricting wider access to 
these streets. 

� A successful petition should result in zone-wide establishment of RPP regulations. 

Identify Regulatory Options. 

Work with residents to identify the most-appropriate set of regulations/restrictions for each zone, 
the primary components of which should include the following. 

� Parking options for non-permitted vehicles: None, 1 hour, or 2 hours 

� Overnight parking: Allowed, Not Allowed, Allowed for permitted vehicles, Allowed only 
outside snow seasons, Allowed broadly 

� Non-Resident permits: Whether or not to allow non-residents to buy daytime permits, 
with revenue set aside for neighborhood investments 

Ensure RPP Schedule and Calendar respond to relevant conditions in each zone. 

Some streets/zones may only need RPP during summer months; others may experience year-
round impacts that should be addressed. 

� Ensure that time-of-day and days-of-the-week schedules for RPP regulations align with 
periods of significant impact. 

� Allow options for seasonal and year-round RPP regulations. 

Address blocks with significant non-residential uses. 

Address issues related to blocks with significant, non-residential uses, such as schools. 

� Clarify that the majority-support threshold is based on share of households, not share of 
property ownership.  

� Where non-residential uses do not abut residential uses, exempt the block-faces abutting 
the non-residential uses from RPP regulation. 

� So, for example, the sides of Seventh and Eighth streets abutting Central School could 
remain regulated to support school functions, while RPP regulations are in place on 
the opposite block-faces, to preserve residential access during times of significant 
school activity.  

58



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 26 

Require Determination of Need for expanding, or creating new, RPP zones. 

Many cities, including Austin, TX and Washington, DC, conduct field surveys in areas that have 
successfully petitioned for new RPP streets/zones. These surveys are used to determine if there is 
a need to improve availability for residents, and whether or not non-residential parking demand 
is significant factor in reduced availability. 

� Require demonstration of need as a step in the implementation process for establishing 
RPP regulations on new blocks. 

� Set a utilization threshold of 75% for proposed blocks/zones 

� Set a non-resident utilization threshold of 25% 

Invest in License Plate Reader technology. 

License Plate Readers (LPR) can significantly improve enforcement while also generating an 
ongoing stream of data to track occupancy measures, and availability/utilization patterns across 
downtown. 

� These can also facilitate RPP programs, by removing the need for physical permits, 
including guest permits, as resident and visitor vehicles can be registered by license 
plates. 

Explore Digital Validation options. 

Businesses concerned about the impact of performance-based pricing during high-demand 
seasons, can use validation codes to their customers, who can use these codes at digital 
meters/kiosks or via pay-by-phone to pay for parking. 

� Approach the City’s pay-by-phone vendor about the potential to develop validation codes 
for this purpose.  

SHORT-TERM PRIORITIES 
Following is a list of recommended short-term implementation priorities – Strategies that 
promise meaningful improvement opportunities, but may require a bit more time and/or 
coordination with external implementation partners, and may encounter some moderate 
implementation barriers. 

Formalize a Performance-Based Management approach. 

TCPS uses pricing as a primary means of distributing parking demand more broadly across its 
downtown parking system, using lower rates to shift some parking activity away from the high-
demand core.  

� Following is a series of recommendations to formalize this approach, to create more 
transparency, clarity, and understanding regarding how, why, and when parking rates, 
regulations, and restrictions are established and adjusted.  

Formally define Availability as the primary performance measure for parking management in 
downtown.  

� For visitor parking, define Availability as the number of empty parking spaces available, 
at any given time, along individual block faces and within individual off-street parking 
facilities.  

59



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 27 

� For commuter/resident parking, define Availability as the number of long-term parking 
permits (daily or monthly) available for off-street parking facilities.  

Monitor Performance. 

Track occupancy/availability conditions across the TCPS parking system, using data-tracking 
technologies, as may be available, as well as field surveys. 

� This should include all off-street facilities, all metered on-street blocks, and residential 
blocks known to attract significant parking demand (which is likely to change, 
seasonally). 

� Take measures monthly, or more frequently as may be viable. 

� Track findings against defined performance targets 

Define performance targets.  

Targeted availability conditions: 

� On-street parking: 15% of spaces are available, or about 1-2 spaces on each block-face 

� Off-street, hourly parking: 10% of spaces are available 

� Off-street, long-term parking: 5% of spaces are available, with no wait list for monthly 
permits. 

Define thresholds for management change. 

Thresholds for rate increases: 

� On-street parking: Availability averages less than 10%, over three months of measures 
during peak-demand periods 

� Off-street, hourly parking: Availability averages less than 5%, over three months of 
measures during peak-demand periods 

� Off-street, long-term parking: Wait lists are established, with applicant wait-times lasting 
more than three months. 

Threshold for rate decreases: 

� For all types of parking: Peak-period availability averages less than 50% 

Expand employee-parking options. 

Broker shared-parking arrangements to allow evening employees to use private lots that offer 
excess capacity at suitable times. 

� Lots associated with the Record Eagle, the Visitors Center, 401 West Front Street, CMH, 
and Coldwell Banker are examples of strong candidate location/business combinations.  

Seek Park-Once synergies. 

Prioritize Pedestrians 

Seek traffic-control policy changes that will make walking distances feel shorter, and thus 
encourage more walking and less driving for local travel. These should include: 

60



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 28 

� Disallowing right turns on RED signals.6  

� Establishing Leading Pedestrian Intervals.7  

Establish a public bike-share program. 

Bike-share is a highly effective first-mile/last-mile mobility resource that can connect peripheral 
parking facilities to downtown destinations, and make getting around all of downtown easier 
without a car. 

� Cycling season coincides with seasons of peak parking demand, making bike-share an 
asset for supporting Park Once when its demand-reduction benefit is most valuable.  

Partner with BATA on the planned Downtown Circulator. 

Work with BATA to ensure that the planned downtown circulator functions as a Park Once 
amenity across the downtown. A high-frequency, downtown-focused service could help connect 
more peripheral parking locations to primary downtown destinations, and better connect the 
downtown core to emerging districts, like those in the Old Town area and around Garland Street.  

Potential improvements could include: 

� More one-seat rides through interlining or redesign – If the system can be designed so 
that the same physical bus serves two different routes, it increases the ability of users to 
make longer trips without having to transfer.  

� Higher frequencies along priority corridors – 30-minute headways offer the lowest 
frequency at which transit users find the bus somewhat convenient.  

� Increasing frequency improves that feeling of convenience for users and increases the 
likelihood of them using the service.  

� Two routes that overlap along a particular corridor can be coordinated to offer more-
frequent service within the overlap zone.  

� Simplified service – to make service intuitive, logical, and easy to understand. Guidelines 
to simplify service include, but are not limited to: 

� Routes should operate along a direct path 

� Route deviations should be minimized 

� Major routes should operate along arterials 

� Routes should be symmetrical 

� Service should be consistent 

Establish a clearer and more comprehensive park-n-ride program. 

� Dedicated, safe, and visible park-and-ride lots have been an effective strategy for many 
small- and medium-sized cities to attract commuters and visitors to transit who would 
otherwise need to pay expensive parking costs or struggle to find parking near their 
destinations.  

                                                             
6 https://nextcity.org/daily/entry/cities-pedestrian-safety-ban-right-turns-on-red 
7 https://nacto.org/publication/urban-street-design-guide/intersection-design-elements/traffic-signals/leading-
pedestrian-interval/ 

61



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 29 

� BATA does not have formalized park-n-ride lots or a park-n-ride program similar to 
its Bike-n-Ride and Ski-n-Ride programs.  

� Strategically located lots that are well lighted and maintained, and offer amenities 
similar to large bus stops, along with free or low-cost parking, transit pass options, 
and convenient bus service can attract new riders and reduce the need for specific 
employer shuttles and additional parking garages. 

Shift toward monthly permits as the primary/only commuter permit format.  

Effective January 1, 2018, the City will no longer offer annual parking permits. This s is an 
important change that helps support TDM efforts.  

� The City should continue in this direction by eliminating quarterly permits within two 
years, supported by technology and online resources to ease permit purchases and 
renewals. 

� Monthly permits will amplify the potential effectiveness of season permit rates, intended 
to incentivize commute-mode shifts during months of peak visitor-parking demand. 

� Conversely, quarterly permits are more difficult to price seasonally, and create a 
“sunk cost” effect on daily commute-mode decisions that favors driving alone.  

� Consider moving toward a drawdown-permit/account, like the City of Boulder’s Cash 
Pass, which was instituted to remove sunk-cost incentives to drive that “unlimited 
parking” passes can create. 8  

Develop a Guaranteed Ride Home benefit. 

Many would-be transit riders or carpoolers continue to drive to work out of concern that they 
might not be able to reach a sick child, or go home sick, or that their ride home may have to leave 
early or work late. A GRH benefit can effectively address these concerns, at a modest cost, as the 
frequency of use tends to be quite low. 9 

� Provide registered, non-driving commuters with a modest allowance of free rides, using 
taxis or ride services, for when unexpected circumstances impact travel needs/options. 

� There may be a unique opportunity to partner with Traverse City’s innovative ride-
service company, TransportHer, to be the primary provider of benefit rides. 

� This, in turn, would help establish this new service, which can reduce auto-
dependence among downtown employees, residents, and visitors. 

Develop Park Once zoning strategies. 

Park Once Development can be defined as land-use and economic expansion that relies primarily 
on a central, shared pool of spaces, rather than a series of privately-controlled, on-site facilities. 
Such an approach reduces parking activity by decoupling the use of parking facilities from one’s 
destination, allowing most parkers to move about the area without having to re-park their cars. 
The most important zoning strategy for supporting Park Once development is removing 
minimum parking requirements, something the City accomplished decades ago. Following is a 
series of recommendations that can build upon this, to discourage the expansion of parking 
supplies that do not support Park Once.  

                                                             
8 https://bouldercolorado.gov/parking-services/downtown-parking-garages 
9 https://nctr.usf.edu/jpt/pdf/JPT%2010-4%20Menczer.pdf 

62



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 30 

Establish code maximums on on-site parking. 

� Allow developers to exceed maximums by: 

� Shared-parking commitments 

� Unbundling all residential parking 

� Contributions to a City fund for investments in public parking, mobility, and TDM  

Encourage developers to purchase parking permits, rather than providing on-site parking. 

� Allow the long-term commitment to provide TCPS permits to satisfy any remaining 
minimum parking requirements in and around downtown. 

Add bike-parking requirements for downtown development. 

Cycling is an essential asset for reducing parking demand during downtown’s peak and shoulder 
seasons, freeing up more spaces for the influx of visitor vehicles during these months. Cycling is 
the most popular alternative to driving among downtown commuters. One of the most common 
barriers to a cycling commute is the lack of secure, sheltered parking options at places of 
employment. The zoning code can reduce this barrier by ensuring that appropriate parking 
facilities are provided at all new downtown commercial and mixed-use projects. And, unlike 
minimum requirement for auto-parking spaces, these requirements typically do not create cost 
barriers to downtown development.  

� Include distinctions between short-term (outdoor racks) and long-term (indoor or 
outdoor shelters, lockers, rooms, etc.) facility requirements 

Explore Fleet-Sharing strategies.10 

Coordinate with City of Traverse City on the potential to use fleet-sharing services to: 

� Reduce the City’s fleet-maintenance costs, and 

� Help lure a car-share provider to the Traverse City market.  

Establish more bike corrals. 

Corrals on secondary streets may help raise the profile of cycling as a means of accessing 
downtown, particularly during summer peaks.  

� “Approach” blocks along Union Street, Cass Street, Park Street, and Boardman Avenue 
provide an ideal opportunity to capture the attention of cyclists as they reach the edge of 
the downtown core.  

Explore the City’s Joint Development opportunities and advantages. 

Absorb lessons from peer experiences. 

� Study evolving best practices among peer cities like Grand Rapids and Ann Arbor.  

� Ensure that TCPS and the City do not undervalue the benefits that such partnerships 
could present to private investors. 

� Press this advantage to ensure optimal benefits for the TCPS parking program. 

                                                             
10 https://www.fastfleet.net/about   http://www.fleetshare.com/  

63

https://www.fastfleet.net/about
http://www.fleetshare.com/


TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 31 

Continue to reinvest parking revenues to fund synergistic downtown/mobility 
improvements. 

Priority consideration should be given to the following potential investments that would directly 
support TDM efforts. 

� Co-funding a downtown circulator service 

� Co-funding a downtown employee bus-pass program 

� Co-funding a downtown bike-share program 

� Co-funding complete-streets, street design projects 

Formalize a Parking-Benefit District approach to investing parking revenues. 

TCPS uses parking revenue to fund public benefits like sidewalk snow clearance and public bike 
racks and shelters. Formalizing this approach into a codified Parking Benefit District program will 
ensure that parking revenues (minus expenses) are fully captured for investment in local, public 
improvements. 

� Promote this Benefit District approach to raise awareness of the local benefits provided 
by parking revenues.  

� Ensure that benefits include non-driving mobility and commuter-benefit investments 
that can reduce parking demand (and, thus, performance-based rates). 

� Provide annual updates on key investments made with parking revenues within an 
annual Performance-Based Management report.  

Refine escalating parking-violation fine structure for overtime and non-payment 
parking violations. 

Start with a modest fine for second offenses 

� Double the fine for each subsequent offense. 

Invest in enforcement technology. 

License Plate Readers can streamline compliance monitoring for payment, time-limit, and 
permit-based regulations.  

� While monitoring, readers also generate data that can be used to track 
occupancy/availability conditions. 

COMPLEMENTARY STRATEGIES 
Following is a list of strategies that should be implemented largely in support of, and/or as 
expansions to, Quick Win and Short-Term Priority recommendations.  

Expand employee-parking options, via daytime permits for RPP streets. 

Once an RPP program has been implemented and shown to be effective, seek 
zones/neighborhoods willing to pilot a program in which daytime permits are sold to area 
employees. 

� These permits can be limited to specific streets/blocks with significant daytime capacities.  

� The number of permits offer can also be controlled to mitigate against reduced 
availability on any street or block.  

64



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 32 

Explore Transit Benefit options. 

As transit improvements increase the viability and appeal of transit commuting, ensuring that 
this option is significantly cheaper than parking may become a highly-effective TDM investment. 

� Complemented with seasonal permit rates, this could be very effective during months of 
high visitor-parking demand, creating more hourly parking capacity in the process. 

� Work with the City and DDA-constituent businesses to explore options for collectively 
funding a bus-pass program for all downtown employees.  

� This could be modeled on the Ann Arbor DDA go!pass program. 

� A new model is emerging in Columbus, Ohio where downtown businesses have 
agreed to pay an assessment to provide this employee benefit to all downtown 
employees.11 

Develop a Public Valet program. 

As a component of the Performance-Based parking management, Public Valet is particularly well 
suited to address the challenges of exceptionally high demand conditions – including seasonal 
and event peaks. In contrast to the typical valet service, which is linked to a specific destination, 
or set of destinations, a Public Valet is open to all drivers, thus making it a viable parking option 
for all visitors and a means of accessing any downtown destination.  

� Pilot a program that uses blocks of on-street parking for a public valet service, 
accelerating turnover of these spaces, while using off-street facilities with excess capacity 
to accommodate valeted cars.   

� Valet stations located along Pine Street and East Front Street, at the periphery of the 
downtown core, would provide high convenience to drivers, and could make use of nearby 
private facilities with excess capacity.  

Ease time limits. 

As performance-based pricing is established as an effective, primary management tool for 
maintaining hourly-parking availability, ease or eliminate time limits to improve the downtown 
parking experience. 

� Begin by removing time limits for off-street lots during evenings and weekends.  

� Remove time limits for additional off-street lots as performance-based pricing and 
enforcement strategies begin to prove effective in achieving availability performance 
targets. 

� As on-street availability becomes more consistent, through pricing strategies, increase the 
time limits on most blocks. 

� Another option is to remove time limits, and instead create a progressive rate 
structure that would incentivize turnover by making the 2nd hour of parking more 
expensive than the first, and the 3rd hour more expensive than the 2nd, and so on.   

Provide high-amenity bus stops within activity centers. 

Attractive and accommodating bus stops can raise the perceived appeal of available transit 
services. Conversely, bus stops with minimal amenities create a perception that local bus services 

                                                             
11 https://www.citylab.com/transportation/2017/08/downtown-columbus-will-buy-bus-rides-for-workers/536088/ 

65



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 33 

are not widely used and likely not very effective for common travel needs. Key amenities for 
improving service to existing customers, and attracting new riders, include the following: 

� Sheltered waiting areas with seating and lighting 

� Fare and boarding information 

� Mapped routes with connecting service information 

� Waste bins 

� Functional and aesthetic integration into the streetscape 

LONGER-TERM RECOMMENDATIONS 
Following is a list of recommended strategies with longer-term implementation expectations – 
Strategies that will require significant time and/or coordination with external implementation 
partners, and may encounter significant implementation barriers. 

Use Information, Signage, Wayfinding, and Branding to encourage broader use of 
all public parking options. 

Combine the TCPS branding with a color scheme to mark commuter, premium hourly, standard 
hourly, and perhaps discount hourly parking locations; Curb markings and/or meter decals could 
also similarly guide drivers toward lower/higher parking-rate options. 

Figure 17 Branding + Color Scheme Guide Drivers to Right-Fit Parking Options 

 
Image: Downtown Sacramento Partnership 

Support Park Once through street-design interventions. 

Use streetscape and street-design interventions to improve pedestrian, bike, and transit 
circulation throughout downtown, including:  

� Better street-crossing facilities for pedestrians. 

� Protected bike lanes for cyclists. 

� Curb-extensions and passenger amenities at bus stops for downtown transit.  

Develop TDM standards for downtown development.  

Establish requirements and/or incentives to include TDM strategies in downtown projects, not 
limited to the following. 

� Unbundled parking (parking is an optional cost added to housing, commercial space) 

66



TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT STUDY | FINAL REPORT 
City of Traverse City 

Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates Inc. | 34 

� Car-share parking (when a provider service is operating downtown) 

� Showers and changing facilities (non-residential uses) 

� On-site space for a bike-share station (when a program is established) 

� Funding toward improvement/expansion of bike-share infrastructure (when a program is 
established) 

� Bus-pass benefits for residents/tenants 

Pilot a Parking Partners program. 

Once pay-by-phone has been established as a Shared Parking brokerage tool, work with private-
facility owners to pilot a Parking Partners program that allows TCPS to incorporate partner 
parking facilities into a distinct component of the TCPS system, creating a sense of cohesion and 
authenticity among these shared facilities that can increase their use by the general driving 
public.  

� Use pay-by-phone to allow facility owners to charge for use of their shared facilities. 

� This will also make these parking options clearer and provide a legitimizing consistency 
among these spaces, by using the same pay-by-phone signage and decals as used for 
TCPS parking spaces.  

� Develop an outreach process for engaging early partnerships. 

� Establish a user-friendly, web-based widget for private facility owners to inquire formally 
about participating in the program. 

 

67



68

Nick Viox
ATTACHMENT C



69



70



71



72



73



74



 

 

CITY OF TRAVERSE CITY 
TRAVERSE CITY PARKING SYSTEM 

PARKING AREA LEASE 

This Parking Area Lease, has been entered into this _________ day of __________________, 20178, 
“Effective Date” between BUCHAN LAND CO. DBA PAULOS LAND CO. a Michigan corporation, of 7340 
Upper Orchard, Cedar, Michigan 49624, hereafter called “OWNER”, and the DOWNTOWN 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a Michigan quasi-Municipal corporation, of 303 East State Street, Traverse 
City, Michigan 49684, hereafter called “DDA”, as follows: 

1. Premises.  The OWNER in consideration of rents and covenants, does hereby let and lease to the 
DDA the premises in the City of Traverse City, Grand Traverse County, Michigan (the 
“Premises”), known as: 
 
Traverse City Parking Services, Parking Lot “P” 
 
Parcel “A” 28-51-794-017-00, also known as 130 W State Street, Traverse City, Michigan 
Parcel “B” 28-51-794-015-00, also known as 128 W State Street, Traverse City, Michigan 
Parcel “C” 28-51-794-013-01, also known as 124 W State Street, Traverse City, Michigan 
 
And depicted on Attachment A, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 
 

2. Term. This Lease is for an initial term of five (5) years commencing June 1, 2018, and shall 
automatically renew for additional successive one year renewal term unless terminated 
pursuant to its terms, from and after the July 1, 2023 of this lease.  
 

3. Rent.  DDA shall operate and maintain the Premises for the purpose of permit parking. The 
OWNER shall convey no less than fifty-six (56) spaces for use by the Parking System. DDA shall 
pay OWNER as rent, in advance, on or before the first day of each month for the term of the 
lease, Forty Dollars ($40.00) per space.  The OWNER will designate reserved spaces within the 
Premises for tenant parking. OWNER reserved spaces shall consist of no more than four (4) 
parking spaces. The DDA may request the use of unused reserved spaces within the parking lot 
at any time, and will adjust the rental rate for the use of the spaces. The rental rate shall not 
apply to OWNER designated reserved spaces. Payment shall be made to the OWNER by mailing 
to the above address. 
 

4. Capital Improvements. The DDA at its own expense bore the cost to construct Parcel “A”, Parcel 
“B” and Parcel “C” into one parking lot.  The DDA shall not be required to resurface or 
reconstruct the Premises if this lease is terminated prior to June 30, 2027upon termination of 
the lease.  The OWNER shall at its own expense, bear the capital costs to install reserved tenant 
signage or stall/space designations. 
 

5. Alterations and Repairs. The DDA shall adjust all ramps (if necessary) for entrance and exit to 
and from the Premises, and if necessary, move any obstructing standards, resurface the 
Premises and make such further alterations and repairs to the leased Premises as shall be 

75



 

 

necessary from time to time; provided, that such alterations and improvements shall conform to 
City ordinance and public parking requirements. The DDA shall maintain and operate the 
Premises for parking of vehicles through its Traverse City Parking System and shall keep the 
Premises in a neat and clean condition, including restriping.  The DDA shall include the Premises 
in its snow removal inventory, so that it will be plowed according to the ordinary practice of the 
DDA in its management of the Traverse City Parking System. If OWNER desires additional 
plowing outside of the inventory schedule, such plowing will be at OWNER’s expense.   
 

6. Use of the Premises. The DDA shall maintain and operate the Premises for parking of vehicles 
through its Traverse City Parking System and shall keep the Premises in a neat and clean 
condition, including restriping.  The DDA shall include the Premises in its snow removal 
inventory, so that it will be plowed according to the ordinary practice of the DDA in its 
management of the Traverse City Parking System. If OWNER desires additional plowing outside 
of the inventory schedule, such plowing will be at OWNER’s expense.  The DDA is to occupy the 
Premises for permit parking of vehicles onlyThe premises will be used for the purposes of 
parking vehicles and additional operational uses of the Parking System. OWNER will designate 
reserved spaces within the Premises for tenant parking. OWNER reserved spaces shall consist of 
no more than four (4) parking spaces. The DDA may request the use of unused reserved spaces 
within the parking lot at any time, and will adjust the rental rate for the use of the spaces. 
 

7. Revenues.  The DDA shall retain all revenues received from the use of the Premises and 
operation of the public parking lot on the Premises.  
 

8. Insurance.  The DDA will maintain public liability and property damages insurance of not less 
than One Million Dollars per person, and One Million Dollars per occurrence, and shall name 
OWNER as additional insured on said policy. 
 

9. Utilities.  A separate water meter will be installed for irrigation.  The DDA shallwill pay all 
charges made against the Premises for utilities for the purpose of lighting and  or irrigation 
during the continuance of this lease, as the same shall become due. The OWNER shall pay all 
charges for utilities made against the Buchan Land Company Building on the Premises. 
 

10. Assignment and Subletting. OWNER acknowledges that the Premises will be placed in the 
Traverse City Parking System, operation of which has been delegated to the Traverse City 
Downtown Development Authority.  Other than normal parking space leases and arrangements, 
the DDA shall not assign this lease without prior written consent of the OWNER.  
 

11. Severability. In the event that any part of this Lease shall be held invalid, the remainder thereof 
shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

12. Legal Effect.  The covenants, conditions, and agreements made and entered into by the several 
parties thereto are declared binding on their respective administrators, successors, and assigns. 
OWNER shall give notice of this Lease to all successors and assigns.  
 

76



 

 

13. Notice.  Any notice which either party may, or is required to give hereunder, may be served 
personally or sent by first- class mail, postage prepaid, to the other party at their address above, 
or at such other places as may be designed in writing by the parties, from time to time. 
 

14. Entire Agreement. This Lease, together with all the items incorporated herein by reference, 
constitutes the entire agreement of the parties and there are no valid promises, conditions, or 
understandings which are not contained herein.   
 

15. Amendments. Any amendments or modifications of this Lease shall be in writing and signed by 
both parties.  
 

16. Termination. This Lease may be terminated by either party upon at least ninety (90) days’ 
written notice to the other party. The termination date must be the last day of a month. If the 
OWNER terminates the lease prior to July 1, 2023, the Owner shall reimburse the DDA the 
Carrying Amount stated in the depreciation schedule Attachment B.  If the DDA terminates the 
lease prior to July 1, 2023, there is no reimbursement to the OWNER.  Upon termination, the 
OWNER shall resume full responsibility for all utility meters.  At the end of the lease, the DDA 
shall remove all parking meters and signage at its own expense. 
 

17. Prior Leases. This Lease supersedes and takes priority over OWNER’s prior lease with the City of 
Traverse City dated _____________  ______, 2017.October 30, 2017. 
 

WITNESS our hands and seals this __________ day of ________________, 20187. 

 

PAULOS LAND CO.:    DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY: 

 

_________________________________ __________________________________  
Catherine Buchan, President   William (Bill) Golden, DDA Chair  
 
_________________________________ __________________________________  
Bruce Buchan, Vice-President   Steve Constantin, Secretary 

 

APPROVED AS TO SUBSTANCE:   APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Robert BacigalupiJean Derenzy, DDA Executive DirectorCEO Lauren Trible-Laucht, DDA/City 
Attorney 

 

77



CITY OF TRAVERSE CITY
TRAVERSE CITY PARKING SYSTEM

PARKING AREA LEASE
ATTACHMENT B: LOT P DEPRECIATION SCHEDULE

Carrying 
Amount

Monthly 
Depreciation

Accumulated 
Deprecitation

June 151,110.02$ 2,518.50$      2,518.50$      
July 148,591.52$ 2,518.50$      5,037.00$      
August 146,073.02$ 2,518.50$      7,555.50$      
September 143,554.52$ 2,518.50$      10,074.00$   
October 141,036.02$ 2,518.50$      12,592.50$   
November 138,517.52$ 2,518.50$      15,111.00$   
December 135,999.02$ 2,518.50$      17,629.50$   
January 133,480.52$ 2,518.50$      20,148.00$   
February 130,962.02$ 2,518.50$      22,666.50$   
March 128,443.52$ 2,518.50$      25,185.00$   
April 125,925.02$ 2,518.50$      27,703.50$   
May 123,406.52$ 2,518.50$      30,222.00$   
June 120,888.02$ 2,518.50$      32,740.50$   
July 118,369.52$ 2,518.50$      35,259.00$   
August 115,851.02$ 2,518.50$      37,777.50$   
September 113,332.52$ 2,518.50$      40,296.00$   
October 110,814.02$ 2,518.50$      42,814.50$   
November 108,295.52$ 2,518.50$      45,333.00$   
December 105,777.02$ 2,518.50$      47,851.50$   
January 103,258.52$ 2,518.50$      50,370.00$   
February 100,740.02$ 2,518.50$      52,888.50$   
March 98,221.52$   2,518.50$      55,407.00$   
April 95,703.02$   2,518.50$      57,925.50$   
May 93,184.52$   2,518.50$      60,444.00$   
June 90,666.02$   2,518.50$      62,962.50$   
July 88,147.52$   2,518.50$      65,481.00$   
August 85,629.02$   2,518.50$      67,999.50$   
September 83,110.52$   2,518.50$      70,518.00$   
October 80,592.02$   2,518.50$      73,036.50$   
November 78,073.52$   2,518.50$      75,555.00$   
December 75,555.02$   2,518.50$      78,073.50$   
January 73,036.52$   2,518.50$      80,592.00$   
February 70,518.02$   2,518.50$      83,110.50$   
March 67,999.52$   2,518.50$      85,629.00$   
April 65,481.02$   2,518.50$      88,147.50$   
May 62,962.52$   2,518.50$      90,666.00$   
June 60,444.02$   2,518.50$      93,184.50$   
July 57,925.52$   2,518.50$      95,703.00$   
August 55,407.02$   2,518.50$      98,221.50$   
September 52,888.52$   2,518.50$      100,740.00$ 
October 50,370.02$   2,518.50$      103,258.50$ 
November 47,851.52$   2,518.50$      105,777.00$ 

Year 1 
2018/19

Year 2 
2019/20

Year 3 
2020/21

Year 4 
2021/22

78



CITY OF TRAVERSE CITY
TRAVERSE CITY PARKING SYSTEM

PARKING AREA LEASE
ATTACHMENT B: LOT P DEPRECIATION SCHEDULE

December 45,333.02$   2,518.50$      108,295.50$ 
January 42,814.52$   2,518.50$      110,814.00$ 
February 40,296.02$   2,518.50$      113,332.50$ 
March 37,777.52$   2,518.50$      115,851.00$ 
April 35,259.02$   2,518.50$      118,369.50$ 
May 32,740.52$   2,518.50$      120,888.00$ 
June 30,222.02$   2,518.50$      123,406.50$ 
July 27,703.52$   2,518.50$      125,925.00$ 
August 25,185.02$   2,518.50$      128,443.50$ 
September 22,666.52$   2,518.50$      130,962.00$ 
October 20,148.02$   2,518.50$      133,480.50$ 
November 17,629.52$   2,518.50$      135,999.00$ 
December 15,111.02$   2,518.50$      138,517.50$ 
January 12,592.52$   2,518.50$      141,036.00$ 
February 10,074.02$   2,518.50$      143,554.50$ 
March 7,555.52$      2,518.50$      146,073.00$ 
April 5,037.02$      2,518.50$      148,591.50$ 
May 2,518.52$      2,518.50$      151,110.00$ 

Year 5 
2022/23

Year 4 
2021/22

79



 

 

CITY OF TRAVERSE CITY 
TRAVERSE CITY PARKING SYSTEM 

PARKING AREA LEASE 
ATTACHMENT A: LOT P PREMISES 

 

Premises:  

Parcel “A” 28-51-794-017-00, also known as 130 W State Street, Traverse City, Michigan 
Parcel “B” 28-51-794-015-00, also known as 128 W State Street, Traverse City, Michigan 
Parcel “C” 28-51-794-013-01, also known as 124 W State Street, Traverse City, Michigan 

 

 

80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



Memorandum
_____________________________________________________________________________________


To: DDA Board of Directors
From: Colleen Paveglio, DDA Deputy & Marketing Director
Re: Radio Centre III Streetscape Improvement Reimbursement 
Date: April 16, 2018

Enclosed is an invoice from 200 Lake Street Development, LLC for streetscape improvements 
at the Radio Centre III development on Park Street. The total cost of the improvement are 
$18,841.60. Per the City’s and DDA’s infrastructure policies, TIF 97 would pay for one half the 
cost, or $9,420.80. Since this project is associated with the reconstruction of Park Street, the 
reimbursement may be paid from the Hardy Garage Bond Proceeds. Therefore, I recommend 
that the DDA Board of Directors authorize the reimbursement to 200 Lake Street 
Development, LLC $9,420.80 for eligible streetscape improvement costs with funds 
available in the TIF 97 Hardy Garage Bond Proceeds.  

Downtown Traverse City Association 

91



92



 

 
 
TO: Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 
FROM: Nick Viox, DDA Special Project Coordinator 
DATE: April 16, 2017 
SUBJECT: Double Up Food Bucks Agreement 
 
 
 
Double Up Food Bucks is one of the many food assistance programs that we have at the Sara 
Hardy Downtown Farmers Market. The program assists all SNAP/EBT users by doubling their 
purchase of fresh, local foods for up to $20 per market. Last year, this program had generated 
$9,722 worth of revenue in our local agricultural system. 
 
The program is slated to begin May 1st. In order to accept Double Up Food Bucks, the Market 
Manager (the DDA) must sign a Market Manager Agreement. The agreement, attached, refers to 
our administrative duties within the grant and how funding is filtered through the DDA to vendors 
at our market.  
 
This program is an excellent way to promote not only healthy, local eating, but our market as a 
whole! I recommend that the DDA Board of Directors authorize the Executive Director to 

execute the enclosed agreement with the Fair Food Network to offer Double Up Food Bucks 

at the Sara Hardy Farmers Market. 

 
 
 

93



fairfoodnetwork.org 734.213.3999
info@fairfoodnetwork.org @fairfoodnetwork

O
E

RRDouble Up Food Bucks 
Farmers	Market	Grant	Agreement	2018	

March	1,	2018	

Traverse	City	DDA	
Nick	Viox	
PO	Box	42	
Traverse	City,	MI	49685	
nick@downtowntc.com		
231-922-2050

Grant	Reference	Number:	DU-MI-18-F0121	
EIN:	38-2289035	
Farmers	Market/s:		Sara	Hardy	Downtown	Farmers	Market	

Dear	Nick	Viox,	

Fair	Food	Network	(“FFN”),	a	tax	exempt	nonprofit,	is	pleased	to	grant	in	the	amount	of	$7,500	to	the	F0121	
for	the	Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Program.				

F0121,	hereafter	called	“the	Grantee	Organization,”	will	receive	a	grant	from	“FFN”	for	the	Double	Up	Food	
Bucks	program,	hereafter	called	“the	Program”	at	the	Sara	Hardy	Downtown	Farmers	Market,	hereafter	called	
“the	Market”.			

Grantee	Organization:	
Traverse	City	DDA	

Grant	Period	Start	Date:	

April	1,	2018	

2018	Grant	Amount:	

$	7,500.00

Tokens	Issued	in	2018:	
0

Market	Cycle:	
Seasonal	

Grant	Period	End	Date:	

March	31,	2019	

Beginning	Fund	Balance:	
(funds	carried	over	from	
2017	program	year)	
$3,792.00

Tokens	on-hand	from	
2017:		
4,582	

Grant	Number:	
DU-MI-18-F0121	

Funds	Disbursement	
Method:	
Single	Payment	

Total	Funds	Available:	

$11,292.00

Total	Tokens	Available:	

4,582	

94



Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Farmers	Market	Grant	Agreement	2018	
1	March	2018	

2	

This	grant	is	made	on	the	following	terms	and	conditions:	

Grant Terms and Conditions 

I. Use	and	Handling	of	Grant	Funds

a. Funds	are	to	be	used	by	the	Grantee	Organization	to	reimburse	participating	vendors	at	the	Market	for
Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Incentives	spent	by	customers	at	their	stalls	at	the	Market	in	exchange	for
eligible	products.

b. Products	eligible	for	Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Incentive	redemption	are	unprocessed,	fruits	and	vegetables
grown	in	the	state	where	the	Market	is	located,	mushrooms,	cut	herbs	and	herb	plants,	and	plants	and
seeds	that	grow	food	producing	plants.		If	the	Market	is	in	a	county,	which	borders	another	state(s),
Double	Up	Food	Bucks	may	also	be	redeemed	for	produce	grown	in	the	state(s)	bordering	that	county.

c. Double	Up	Food	Bucks	tokens	or	electronic	loyalty	credits	are	used	as	currency	proxy	for	Incentive
distribution	and	redemption	at	the	Market,	hereafter	called	“the	Incentive.”

d. Funds	shall	not	qualify	for	the	Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Incentive	nor	may	they	be	used	to	reimburse	a
vendor	at	the	Market	if	the	vendor	provided	a	customer	with	ineligible	product.

e. Funds	may	not	be	used	to	reimburse	a	vendor	who	is	not	participating	in	the	FFN	Program	or	has	not
signed	a	Vendor	Agreement.

f. Any	portion	of	the	grant	funds	not	used	within	the	grant	period	or	not	used	for	the	purposes	stated
above	must	be	returned	to	FFN	within	one	month	of	when	both	the	Grantee	Organization	and	FFN	have
agreed	upon	a	reconciliation	statement,	unless	the	Grantee	Organization	receives	express	written
consent	from	FFN.

g. Grant	funds	shall	be	kept	separately	on	the	Grantee	Organization’s	books	of	account	as	grant	funds	from
FFN;	and	accurate	records	of	the	funds	received	and	expenses	incurred	under	the	grant	should	be	kept
in	accordance	with	generally	accepted	accounting	principles.

h. Financial	and	program-based	records	related	to	the	Grant	will	be	retained	for	at	least	four	years	after
the	completion	of	the	Grantee	Organization’s	use	of	the	Grant	funds.

i. FFN,	at	its	request,	shall	have	reasonable	access	to	the	Grantee	Organization’s	and/or	the	Market’s	files,
records,	personnel	and	premises	for	the	purposes	of	making	financial	audits,	verifications,	or	program
evaluations	as	it	deems	necessary	concerning	the	Grant.

j. No	part	of	the	Grant	funds	may	be	used	to	carry	on	propaganda,	or	otherwise	attempt	to	influence
legislation	or	to	influence	or	to	participate	in	or	to	intervene	in	(including	the	publishing	or	distribution
of	statements)	any	political	campaign	on	behalf	of	(or	in	opposition	to)	any	candidate	for	public	office.

k. This	agreement	becomes	null	and	void,	and	funds	of	the	Grant	must	be	returned	if	the	terms	and
conditions	of	the	Grant	are	not	met	by	the	Grantee	Organization.

l. The	Grantee	Organization	should	have	the	correct	number	of	Incentive	tokens	at	the	end	of	the	Program
season	based	on	reporting	provided.		The	calculation	used	to	determine	the	number	of	Incentive	tokens
which	the	Grantee	Organization	should	have	on	hand	at	the	end	of	the	season	is:	the	number	of	tokens
on-hand	at	the	start	of	the	season,	minus	the	number	of	tokens	distributed	to	customers,	plus	the
number	of	tokens	redeemed	by	vendors.		In	the	instance	that	the	Grantee	Organization	does	not	have
the	correct	number	of	Incentive	tokens	at	the	end	of	the	season,	the	records	of	the	Grantee
Organization	may	be	under	review.	FFN	may,	at	its	discretion,	waive	any	financial	penalty	if	there	is	a
small	margin	of	error	(a	variance	equal	to	or	less	than	5%)	with	the	reconciliation	of	Incentive	tokens.

a. In	the	event	of	a	token	shortage,	the	Grantee	Organization	may	be	penalized	at	a	cost	equal	to
the	replacement	value	of	the	token	shortage.

95



Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Farmers	Market	Grant	Agreement	2018	
1	March	2018	

3	

b. In	the	event	of	a	token	overage,	the	Grantee	Organization	will	be	penalized	at	a	cost	equal	to	
the	cash	value	of	the	token	overage.	This	can	happen	in	two	ways:		

i. If	the	Grantee	Organization	does	not	initiate	a	2019	grant	agreement	with	FFN,	funds	
must	be	returned	to	FFN	within	one	month	of	when	both	the	Grantee	Organization	and	
FFN	have	agreed	upon	a	reconciliation	statement.		

ii. If	the	Grantee	Organization	initiates	a	2019	grant	agreement	with	FFN,	funds	will	be	
subtracted	from	the	current	grant	agreement’s	rollover	amount.		
	

II.	Program	Guidelines	and	Standards	
	
The	Grantee	Organization	is	responsible	for	ensuring	FFN	Program	guidelines	are	followed	at	the	Market	and	
agrees	to	administer	the	Program	as	directed	by	FFN.		The	Grantee	Organization	will:	
	

a) Vendor	Education	

• Provide	Program	information	to	all	vendors	at	the	Market,	including	those	vendors	who	sell	eligible	
products	and	those	who	do	not	sell	eligible	products.	

• Distribute	a	Double	Up	Food	Bucks	sign	to	each	participating	vendor	and	ensure	the	signs	are	visibly	
posted	for	customers	during	the	Market’s	hours	of	operation.	

• Communicate	a	defined	process	and	schedule	for	Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Incentive	redemption	and	
reimbursement	with	participating	vendors	at	the	Market.	

	
b) Incentive	Redemption	and	Reimbursement	to	Vendors	for	Incentives	

• Make	reimbursement	payments	to	participating	vendors	for	the	cash	value	of	the	Incentive	
redeemed	at	the	Market	for	eligible	product	within	one	month	of	when	the	sales	are	properly	
reported	by	the	vendor	to	the	market.			

• Prior	to	reimbursement,	the	Market	must	have	a	signed	Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Vendor	Agreement	
on	file	for	each	vendor	for	each	year	of	this	Grant.		The	Grantee	Organization	must	provide	a	copy	of	
this	Agreement	to	FFN	upon	request.	

• To	determine	the	cash	value	of	Double	Up	Food	Bucks	redeemed	by	participating	vendors,	the	
Grantee	Organization	must:	

a) If	the	Market	accepts	Supplemental	Nutrition	Assistance	Program	(“SNAP”)	payments	using	
an	electronic	model,	monitor	all	Incentive	Loyalty	reports.		

b) If	the	Market	accepts	SNAP	via	a	token-based	system,	collect	Incentive	tokens	from	
participating	vendors	and	maintain	and	submit	to	FFN	written	records	of	Incentive	tokens	
redeemed	by	participating	vendors	using	a	form	provided	by	FFN	or	a	similar	form	with	FFN	
permission.		Records	must	indicate	the	name	of	the	vendor	who	redeemed	the	tokens,	the	
date	of	redemption,	the	dollar	value	of	tokens	submitted	and	the	Market	name.				

• In	seasonal	markets,	the	last	day	for	vendors	to	accept	Incentive	in	exchange	for	eligible	product	is	
the	Market’s	closing	day,	and	the	last	day	for	the	Grantee	Organization	to	reimburse	vendors	for	
redeemed	Incentive	is	one	month	after	the	Market’s	closing	day.	

	
c) Incentive	Distribution	to	Customer		

• The	Grantee	Organization	will	oversee	Incentive	distribution	to	customers	using	SNAP	at	the	Market.		

96



Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Farmers	Market	Grant	Agreement	2018	
1	March	2018	

4	

• A	customer	at	the	Market	will	receive	a	value	of	Incentive	tokens	or	loyalty	credits	equal	to	the
amount	of	SNAP	dollars	spent,	up	to	$20	per	market	day.

a) If	SNAP	benefits	are	accepted	using	an	electronic	model	by	each	vendor,	the	Grantee
Organization	will	monitor	vendors’	SNAP	and	Incentive	transactions	to	ensure	SNAP	sales
are	always	greater	than	or	equal	to	Incentive	credits	awarded.

b) If	SNAP	benefits	are	accepted	at	a	central	terminal	and	distributed	via	a	token-based	system,
the	Grantee	Organization	will	maintain	records	of	daily	distribution	of	tokens	using	a
standardized	report	form	provided	by	FFN	or	a	similar	form	with	FFN	permission.	This	form
must	provide	a	record	of	each	SNAP	transaction	and	Incentive	distribution.

• In	seasonal	markets,	the	last	day	to	distribute	the	Incentive	to	customers	is	the	last	day	of	the

Market’s	season

III. Record-Keeping	and	Reporting

a) Quarterly	Reports

The	Grantee	Organization	will	submit	calendar	month	totals	of	the	following	each	quarter	via	an	online
survey	link	provided	by	FFN.		Reported	information	is	final	upon	submission	and	will	be	used	to	reconcile
Incentive	funds	without	correction.

• Cash	value	of	Incentive	redeemed	by	participating	vendors	and	dispersed	to	customers

• Cash	value	of	SNAP	redeemed	by	participating	vendors	and	dispersed	to	customers

• Number	of	SNAP	transactions

• If	SNAP	benefits	are	accepted	at	a	central	terminal	and	distributed	via	a	token-based	system,
number	of	new	customers	as	indicated	by	the	number	of	SNAP	customers	who	respond	yes	to
the	question	“Is	this	your	first	time	using	your	Bridge	Card	(or	equivalent)	at	this	market?”

• FFN	may	consider	requests	to	adjust	quarterly	reports	made	by	the	Grantee	Organization	within
one	month	of	submission

b) Record	Keeping
The	Grantee	Organization	will	maintain	and	keep	on	file	the	following	records	and	provide	a	copy	to	FFN
upon	request:

i. Customer	Transaction	Records	for	each	market	day	when	SNAP	benefits	are	accepted	at	a
central	terminal	and	distributed	via	a	token-based	system.

ii. Verification	of	SNAP	sales.		FFN	may	request	third	party	verification	of	monthly	SNAP	sales	as
demonstrated	by	either:

i. Copy	of	a	daily	batch	report	from	the	Market’s	point-of-sale	device	for	each	market	day

ii. Monthly	statement	from	EBT	merchant	processor

iii. Report	from	a	SNAP	processing	application

iii. Vendor	Records	indicating	the	cash	value	of	Incentives	redeemed	by	each	vendor	each
market	day.		Excel	or	spreadsheet	document	with	required	elements	of	Vendor	Record	Sheet
is	allowable.

c) Vendor	Reimbursement	Records

The	Grantee	Organization	must	maintain	and	provide	records	of	reimbursement	payments	made	to
participating	vendors	for	Incentives	redeemed	on	a	quarterly	basis	as	demonstrated	by	either:

i. Completed	payment	record	column	on	Vendor	Record	Sheet	provided	by	FFN	with	date,
check	number,	and	total	dollar	value	of	check.		FFN	only	requires	payment	record	for

97



Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Farmers	Market	Grant	Agreement	2018	
1	March	2018	

5	

Incentive	reimbursements.		The	Vendor	Record	sheet	must	indicate	the	portion	allocated	to	
each	market	currency	if	the	Grantee	Organization	includes	multiple	market	currencies	(eg.	
SNAP,	WIC	Project	FRESH,	credit/debit)	in	a	single	reimbursement	payment.	

ii. Report	from	the	Organization’s	accounting	software	verifying	each	Incentive	reimbursement
payment	made	to	vendors,	aligned	with	Incentive	redemption	documentation.

iii. If	the	Grantee	Organization	makes	cash	reimbursement	payments	for	Incentive	redemption
by	vendors,	the	Grantee	Organization	must	be	able	to	verify	to	FFN	that	these	payments
were	made	by	providing	a	receipt	to	each	vendor	or	obtaining	vendor’s	signature	at	time	of
reimbursement.

iv. With	FFN	permission,	alternative	forms	of	documentation	may	be	acceptable.

IV. Evaluation

• The	Grantee	Organization	may	opt-in	to	distribute	a	questionnaire	to	customers	at	point	of	sale	and	a
survey	to	vendors	provided	by	FFN	during	the	Market’s	season,	and	return	completed	surveys	in	an
envelope	provided	with	pre-paid	postage	within	a	month	of	collection.

• The	Grantee	Organization	will	complete	a	year-end	market	manager	evaluation	survey.

• The	Grantee	Organization	will	allow	for	additional	evaluation	methods	at	the	Market	as	requested	by
FFN,	an	independent	evaluation	firm,	or	the	United	States	Department	of	Agriculture	(USDA).

V. Trademark

• Fair	Food	Network	owns	the	trademarked	name	“Double	Up	Food	Bucks”	and	the	apple/carrot	logo.
As	a	Grantee	of	the	Program,	the	Grantee	Organization	may	use,	on	a	non-exclusive	basis,	the
licensed	mark	in	Market	promotional	materials	for	the	duration	of	the	Grant	period.

VI. Report	Schedule
Program	participation	will	be	divided	into	the	following	quarters	for	reporting:

Q2:	4/1/18-6/30/18	
Q3:	7/1/18-9/30/18	
Q4:	10/1/18-12/31/18	
Q1:	1/1/18-3/31/19	

Report	Name	 Due	Date	 Report	Format	
Quarterly	Report	 One	week	after	the	close	

of	each	quarter	
Q2:	7/7/18	
Q3:	10/7/18	
Q4:	1/7/19	
Q1:	4/7/19	

Online	via	survey	link	posted	in	Market	
Manager	Portal	of	
www.DoubleUpFoodBucks.org.	

Vendor	Reimbursement	
Records		

One	month	after	the	
close	of	each	quarter	
Q2:	7/31/18	
Q3:	10/31/18	
Q4:	1/31/19	

It	is	preferred	that	electronic	copies	be	
uploaded	to	the	online	quarterly	report.	
Other	options	include:	submit	hard	copy	
records	either	in-person	or	via	mail,	or	
send	electronically	to	FFN	by	email.		

98



Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Farmers	Market	Grant	Agreement	2018	
1	March	2018	

6	

	

	

VII.	Disbursement	of	Funds	

FFN	will	disburse	funds	following	the	receipt	of	counter-signed	grant	agreement	and	a	W-9	or	copy	of	tax	
exempt	letter	from	IRS	for	tax	exempt	organizations	from	the	Grantee	Organization	in	one	of	the	following	two	
methods	as	denoted	on	Page	1.	

a) Single	Payment:	Funds	will	be	released	to	the	Grantee	Organization	in	a	single	payment	made	by	a	
check;	or	

b) Scheduled	Reimbursement:	FFN	will	reimburse	the	Grantee	Organization	for	the	cash	value	of	Incentives	
spent	by	customers	at	the	Market	after	the	Organization	submits	complete	and	accurate	reports.	FFN	
will	process	payments	and	disburse	funds	for	the	cash	value	of	Incentive	loyalty	transactions	redeemed	
by	customers	at	the	Market	within	2	weeks	of	receiving	a	complete	quarterly	report	from	the	Grantee	
Organization.	FFN	will	process	payments	and	disburse	funds	on	a	quarterly	schedule.	Late	reports	will	
not	be	processed	until	the	next	scheduled	opportunity.			

	
VIII.	Violation	of	Agreement	
	
If	Grantee	Organization	violates	any	of	its	duties	(including	failing	to	make	timely	or	accurate	reports)	then	FFN	
could	require	a	refund	from	Grantee	Organization	to	FFN	of	part	of	the	Grant	that	relates	to	or	is	impacted	by	
the	breach	by	the	Grantee	Organization.		FFN	reserves	the	right	to	discontinue,	modify	or	withhold	any	payment	
due	under	the	Grant,	to	require	repayment	of	expended	Grant	funds,	or	a	refund	of	unexpended	Grant	funds,	if,	
in	its	judgment,	such	action	is	necessary	to	comply	with	the	requirements	of	any	law	or	regulations	affecting	its	
responsibility	with	respect	to	the	Grant.	If	any	of	the	conditions	of	the	Grant	are	violated	by	Grantee	
Organization,	in	addition	to	requiring	a	refund	of	the	amount	giving	rise	to	the	violation,	FFN	will	have	no	further	
obligation	to	continue	to	fund	the	Grant.	
	
The	foregoing	conditions	comply	with	FFN’s	obligation	under	U.S.	law	to	make	reasonable	efforts	and	establish	
adequate	procedures	to	see	that	the	Grant	funds	are	spent	solely	for	the	purposes	for	which	they	have	been	
granted	and	to	obtain	full	and	complete	records	on	how	the	Grant	funds	have	been	expended.	Changes	in	the	
U.S.	laws	or	regulations	may	require	FFN	to	ask	that	more	detailed	reports	be	submitted	or	other	steps	be	taken.	
FFN	will	inform	the	Grantee	Organization	of	any	such	changes.		If	the	Grantee	Organization	accepts	the	above	
stated	conditions,	please	have	a	duly	authorized	representative	of	the	Grantee	Organization	sign	below	and	
make	a	copy	for	the	Organization’s	files.		Electronic	signatures	are	acceptable.	
	
Return	original	or	copy	of	the	entire	signed	agreement	by	mail	to	the	Michigan	Farmers	Market	Association	at	
the	following	address:	
Michigan	Farmers	Market	Association	
Attn:	Double	Up	Food	Bucks	

Q1:	4/30/19	
Customer	and	Vendor	Surveys	 Within	one-month	of	

receipt	
Grantee	Organization	may	opt-in	to	
participating	and	mail	completed	surveys	
in	an	envelope	provided	by	FFN	with	pre-
paid	postage.	

Market	Manager	Survey	 12/1/18	 Online	survey	link	sent	via	email	and	
posted	in	Market	Manager	Portal	of	
www.DoubleUpFoodBucks.org.	

99



Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Farmers	Market	Grant	Agreement	2018	
1	March	2018	

7	

480	Wilson	Rd,	Room	172	
East	Lansing,	MI	48824	

Or	scanned	and	emailed	directly:	
To:	foodaccess@mifma.org	|	Subject:	Signed	agreement	for	Double	Up	Food	Bucks	

On	behalf	of	Fair	Food	Network,	I	want	to	extend	our	best	wishes	for	success	in	your	work.	

Sincerely,	

Dr.	Oran	B.	Hesterman	
President	and	CEO					

100



Double	Up	Food	Bucks	Farmers	Market	Grant	Agreement	2018	
1	March	2018	

8	

TRAVERSE	CITY	DDA|	SARA	HARDY	DOWNTOWN	FARMERS	MARKET	

Traverse	City	DDA	
Nick	Viox	
PO	Box	42	
Traverse	City,	MI	49685	
nick@downtowntc.com		
231-922-2050

Grant	Reference	Number:	DU-MI-18	F0121	
EIN:	38-2289035	
Farmers	Market/s:		Sara	Hardy	Downtown	Farmers	Market	

Authorized	Representative	of	Grantee	Organization	

Traverse	City	DDA	

_______________________________	 _______________________________	 	________	
Signature	 	 	 	 Name	and	Title	(Please	Print	or	Type)	 Date	

Attachments	

This	agreement	become	binding	when	FFN	receives:	

1. Counter-signed	grant	agreement	from	the	Organization

2. W-9	or	copy	of	non-profit	exemption	letter	from	IRS

101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



FARMERS MARKET ADVISORY BOARD  

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Monday, March 19, 2018, 9:00 am 
Committee Room, Second Floor 

Governmental Center, 400 Boardman Avenue, Traverse City 
www.downtowntc.com 

 
 
 

1. Roll Call 
a. Present: Tricia Phelps, Lori Buchan, Sue Kurta, Brenin Wertz-Roth, Linda 

Grigg, Nic Welty, Jeff Joubran, Tim Werner, Meghan McDermott (9:02 am), 
Courtney Lorenz (9:23 am) 

b. Absent: Gary Jonas, Chuck Korson 
 

2. Approval of Minutes 
a. Buchan seconded motion, not Grigg, to be edited 
b. Motion to Approve - Laurie Buchan, Seconded - Linda Grigg 

 
3. Monthly Financials 

a. Motion to Approve - Brenin Wertz Roth, Seconded - Jeff Joubran 
 

4. Prescriptions for Health Contract Review 
 

5. Wednesday Markets Review 
a. Programming Committee Review 
b. Jean Derenzy intro: DDA received a letter from a vendor requesting 

Wednesday market time remain the same. Need to develop system for 
receiving vendor feedback prior to making changes so DDA does not 
receive mixed messages. Like how the advisory committee meets and 
makes recommendations, but this flip-flop draws attention to the need for a 
better vendor feedback process.  

c. Comments from Brenin, Tricia, Nick: we learned from this mistake,  
d. Tricia: now we know we need to meet face to face, email doesn’t work 
e. Joubran: problematic to miscommunicate with DDA, jumped the gun, can’t 

happen again 
f. Buchan: we learned from this and all agree to make sure this doesn’t 

happen again 

122

http://www.downtowntc.com/
http://www.downtowntc.com/


g. Welty: vendor representatives could take it upon themselves to be more 
responsible to communicate with other vendors since they are their 
appointed representatives to this advisory board, and bring their feedback 
back to this advisory board 

h. Kurta: that’s already happening 
i. Buchan: feel like the vendors think that this board is a “secret society” 
j. Grigg: one of the best vendor communication changes has been to send 

the packet, but for the future, any major changes should dictate we have a 
face to face vendor meeting 

k. Buchan: is there a suggestion box available at the market? 
l. Viox: I receive feedback via phone and email, no suggestion box, they’re 

seldom used 
m. McDermott: could we issue a survey to customers regarding the time 

change? In order to better communicate with vendors 
n. Viox: customer survey could be problematic, need to survey people who 

are not already at market, time change is now postponed 
o. Wertz-Roth: we could talk to MIFMA, get ideas for how to solicit additional 

vendor input 
p. Buchan: at the next in-person meeting, could we (the advisory board), be 

available at the meeting in order to put a real face on this decision-making 
body 

q. Viox: will send out an email to schedule that meeting in order to allow as 
many board members to attend as possible 

 
6. Barricades Update 

a. Food trucks cannot be used due to the fact that they have large propane 
tanks and can create a hazard in the event of a collision.  

b. We plan to use vendor trucks if available, otherwise we will suggest that 
SEEDS staff park in that area in order to create a barricade. 

 
7. Data Gathering 

a. MIFMA invited SHFM to participate in National Farmers’ Market Coalition. 
MIFMA covers the cost of the data collection portal.   

b. This is a farm bill year, data is critical to convey the necessity of federal 
food assistance programs as the NFMC advocates for these programs. 
Sales data is particularly important as it conveys the economic impact of 
these programs- will of course be voluntary for vendors.  

c. Networks NW may be a good source of funding/support for data collection 
as needed. Nick and Meghan will follow up.  

123



Downtown Traverse City Association 
Regular Board Meeting 

March 8, 2018 

Minutes 

Present: Kim Bazemore, Jake Kaberle, Liz Lancashire, Jeffrey Libman, John McGee, Todd 
McMillen, Misha Neidorfler 

Absent:  Dave Leonhard 

Staff/Others:  Jean Derenzy, Colleen Paveglio 

1. Call to Order: President Neidorfler called the meeting to order at 8:36 a.m. 

2. Approval of Minutes of the DTCA Board Meeting of February 8, 2018:  Minutes from the 
February 8, 2018 board meeting were approved  as amended upon motion by Kaberle and seconded 
by McGee. Motion carried unanimously. 

3. Marketing Report (Paveglio) 

a. Chili Cook-Off 
i. Saturday, January 13th at the State Street Marketplace 
ii. Served about 1,300 
iii. Sponsors are C.H. Robinson, Golden Shoes, Pepsi, MyNorth Media, BARC, and 

Monstrey MacDonald 

b. Presidents’ Day Weekend Sale  
i. Google form has been sent 
ii. Promote through ads and social media  

c. Traverse City Restaurant Week 
i. February 25th - March 3rd 
ii. 40 participants 
iii. Two Tier option: Three course dinner for $25 or $35 
iv. Great Lakes Wine & Spirits has $2,000 

d. Celebration for Young Children 
i. Saturday, April 28 

1. Deadline for participation March 15 
2. Hands on Activity Center at Ecco 
3. Wings of Wonder at HorizonsSocial Media: As of March, 2018 

e. Downtown Art Walk 
i. Friday, May 4 

1. Deadline for participation March 15  

f. Miscellaneous 

124



i. Social Media: As of March 6, 2018 
1. Facebook: 17,986 
2. Instagram: 19,263 
3. Twitter: 17,801 

ii. Newsletter Report: March 2018 

4. Committee Reports  
a. Nominating Committee 

i. Dave Leonhard 
ii. Misha Neidorfler 
iii.Sara Harding: Member at Large 

5. President’s Report (Neidorfler) 
a. Welcome Jean 

6. CEO’s Report (Derenzy) 
a. Financial Report  

i. Approval of the Financial Reports through February 28, 2018. Financial Report 
through February 28, 2018 was approved upon motion by Libman and seconded 
by Bazemore. Motion carried unanimously.  

b. DDA Report  
i. CIP 
ii. Riverwalk 
iii.Redevelopment of Lot O 
iv. Farmers Market 
v. Lake & Cass  
vi. TIF 

7. New Business 
a. Website Calendar 

i. Support form the Board to move forward with What’s up Michigan to develop a new 
calendar and trip builder for the Downtown website  

b. Alzheimers Request 
i. Paveglio to offer GMD opportunity 

c. New Members 
i. Enlightened Living 

8. Adjournment 
a. The meeting adjourned at 9:26 a.m. 

125



ECCO
(look for the red door)

11 am - 1 pm
Hands-On Activity Center hosted by miaeyc

Horizon Books
11 am - Noon

Wings of Wonder

State Theatre
10 am

Family Sing-Along with Miss Miriam of Little Bird School of Song

Activities in Downtown Shops
Acoustic Tap Room • The Cheese Lady

Chemical Bank • Great Lakes Bath & Body
Kilwins • Liana’s • MI Happy Place (Tee See Tee)
Millie & Pepper • Morsels Espresso + Edibles 

Toy Harbor

Children’s Art Work Displays
Acoustic Tap Room • American Spoon • The Cheese Lady

Chemical Bank• Great Lakes Bath & Body • Haystacks
Kilwins • Liana’s • McMillen’s Custom Framing 
MI Happy Place (Tee See Tee) • Millie & Pepper

Miner’s North Jewelers • Sugarkissed
Suhm-thing • Toy Harbor

Saturday, April 28
11 am to 1 pm

CELEBRATION FOR YOUNG CHILDREN

downtown traverse city  l  downtowntc.com  l  231.922.2050
126



PARK ST. 

BOARDMAN AVE.

CASS ST.

UNION ST. 

PINE ST. 

LAKE AVE. 

WADSWORTH ST. 

MAPLE ST. 

LAK
E A

VE.
 

SIX
TH

 ST
. 

EIG
HT

H S
T. 

FR
ON

T S
T. 

STA
TE 

ST.
 

GA
RLA

ND
 ST

.

HALL ST. 

2

5 3

6

7

8

11

9
10

13
14

15 16
17

1819
20 21

22

23 24

25

26
27

1

4

12

FRIDAY, MAY 4 • 5PM - 9PM

USE THIS MAP TO GUIDE YOU TO 

ALL 27 LOCATIONS! 
MORE DETAILED INFORMATION ON THE BACK.

DOWNTOWNTC.COM • #DOWNTOWNTC127



1. OVIATT HOUSE BED & BREAKFAST 244 E. EIGHTH 
COLLEEN & JUSTIN SHULL • OIL & ACRYLIC
2. MI HAPPY PLACE (TEE SEE TEE) 346 E. FRONT
KEVIN BURDICK • SPRAY PAINT STREET ART 
3. MCMILLEN’S CUSTOM FRAMING 326 E. FRONT
GEARY HOFFMAN • PHOTOGRAPHIC WATERCOLOR 
4. PAINTING WITH A TWIST 317B E. FRONT 
MIKAYLA WELLS, JESSICA SIMPSON, & STACEY GRIST • PAINT
5. MICHIGAN ARTISTS GALLERY 317A E. FRONT
GROUP SHOW OF 70+ ARTISTS INTERPRETING HICKS’ “PEACEABLE KINGDOM”
6. GRAND TRAVERSE PIE CO. 101 N. PARK
CHILD & FAMILY SERVICES • CHILDREN’S ART
7. ORVIS STREAMSIDE 223 E. FRONT
JIM VEENSTRA • GLASS
8. PINK ANCHOR 219 E. FRONT
STEPHANIE SCHLATTER • PAINT
9. HAYSTACKS 232 E. FRONT
MAX MCLEOD LAMBERT • OIL 
10. MINER’S NORTH 222 E. FRONT
BLACKBIRD ARTS • MIXED MEDIA
11. GLITZ & SPURS 207 E. FRONT
ANNELISE NICOLE • FINE ART PORTRAIT PHOTOGRAPHY
12. DAISY JANE 203 E. FRONT
LEIF SPORCK • TILE ART
13. MY SECRET STASH 122 S. CASS
ALEX TESELSKY • COPPER
14. ROTH SHIRT CO. 155 E. FRONT
ED ROTH • T-SHIRTS & ILLUSTRATIONS
15. KILWIN’S 129 E. FRONT
JEREMY JOHNSON • ACRYLIC & MIXED MEDIA ON CANVAS
16. ART & SOUL GALLERY 140 E. FRONT
JOE KREISER • METAL PHOTOGRAPHY 
17. THE WOODEN GALLERY 116 E. FRONT, #1
LISA LARONES, DALE DEVRIES, & STEVE TAVENER • PHOTOGRAPHY 
18. FUSION FINE ART FRAMING & GALLERY 114 E. FRONT, STE. 208
BILL HYSLOP • OIL PAINTING
19. SINCERELY BETTY 123 E. FRONT,  STE. 2
ALI HOXSIE • MIXED MEDIA
20. ECCO EVENT SPACE 121 E. FRONT
SPENCER MCQUEEN • PAINTING/MIXED MEDIA ON CANVAS
21. ONE OAK BRIDE 121 E. FRONT, STE. 108
HEATHER SPOONER • HAND LETTERING & MURALS
22. HARVEST 127 S. UNION
PAULINO CECILIO JR. • PAINT
23. MILLIE & PEPPER 120 S. UNION
JULIE HEARNE • OIL ON WOOD CANVAS
24. HIGHER ART GALLERY 126 S. UNION 
GROUP SHOW OF 70+ ARTISTS INTERPRETING HICKS’ “PEACEABLE KINGDOM”
25. CROOKED TREE ARTS CENTER 322 SIXTH
MULTIPLE ARTISTS • EXHIBIT “HAND IN HAND: CRAFT & NEW TECHNOLOGIES”
26. THE CHEESE LADY 600 WEST FRONT
AUBREY HENSCHELL • WATERCOLOR 
27. ACOUSTIC TAP ROOM 119 N. MAPLE
GEORGE KLEIBER • WATERCOLOR, ACRYLIC, OILS, & RE-INKING128




